The Senate

Legal and Constitutional Affairs Legislation Committee

Judiciary Amendment (Commonwealth Model Litigant Obligations) Bill 2017

© Commonwealth of Australia 2018

ISBN 978-1-76010-875-5

This work is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs 3.0 Australia License.



The details of this licence are available on the Creative Commons website: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/au/.

This document was produced by the Senate Legal and Constitutional Affairs Committee secretariat and printed by the Senate Printing Unit, Department of the Senate, Parliament House, Canberra.

Members of the committee

Members

Senator the Hon Ian Macdonald (LNP, QLD) (Chair)

Senator Louise Pratt (ALP, WA) (Deputy Chair)

Senator Jane Hume (LP, VIC)

Senator Nick McKim (AG, TAS)

Senator Jim Molan AO, DSC (LP, NSW)

Senator Murray Watt (ALP, QLD)

Participating members

Senator Derryn Hinch (DHJP, VIC)

Senator David Leyonhjelm (LDP, NSW)

Secretariat

Dr Sean Turner, Acting Committee Secretary Ms Pothida Youhorn, Principal Research Officer Mr Antony Paul, Senior Research Officer

Ms Alexandria Moore, Administrative Officer

Suite S1.61 Telephone: (02) 6277 3560

Parliament House Fax: (02) 6277 5794

CANBERRA ACT 2600 Email: legcon.sen@aph.gov.au

Table of contents

Members of the committee	iii
Recommendations	vii
Chapter 1	1
Introduction	1
Conduct of this inquiry	1
Structure of this report	1
Purpose of the bill	2
What is the model litigant obligation?	2
Existing oversight of compliance with the model litigant obligation	5
Key provisions of the bill	8
Consideration by other Parliamentary committees	11
Note on references	11
Acknowledgements	11
Chapter 2	13
Productivity Commission recommendation regarding model obligations	_
The Productivity Commission's inquiry and the government's response	13
Issues raised in evidence	15
Chapter 3	17
Key issues	17
Current compliance with, and oversight of, the obligation	17
The proposed role of the courts	
The proposed role of the Commonwealth Ombudsman	
Possible increases to costs and delays	
Issues relating to lawyers	40

Other issues	41
Committee view	43
Appendix 1	47
Public Submissions	47
Answers to Questions on Notice	48
Additional Information	48
Appendix 2	49
Public hearings and witnesses	49

Recommendations

Recommendation 1

3.130 While the committee recognises that the bill has merit and that action needs to be taken to ensure compliance with the model litigant obligation, the committee recommends that the Senate not pass the bill in its current form.

Recommendation 2

3.136 The committee recommends that the government initiate action to fully ascertain the nature and extent of the problem of non-compliance with the model litigant obligation, such as an independent audit of compliance.

Recommendation 3

3.141 The committee recommends that the government include tribunals (such as the Administrative Appeals Tribunal), as well as courts, in any proposed legislation relating to the enforcement of the model litigant obligation by courts.

Chapter 1

Introduction

- 1.1 On 7 December 2017, the Senate referred the Judiciary Amendment (Commonwealth Model Litigant Obligations) Bill 2017 (the bill) to the Legal and Constitutional Affairs Legislation Committee (the committee) for inquiry and report by 8 May 2018. The committee's reporting date was extended on four occasions to, in turn, 28 June 2018, 27 July 2018, 19 September 2018, and 7 December 2018.
- 1.2 In recommending the referral of the bill, the Selection of Bills Committee raised the following issue for consideration:

Whether the bill appropriately responds to the September 2014 Productivity Commission recommendation, in its Access to Justice report, that compliance with model litigant obligations should be enforceable.²

Conduct of this inquiry

- 1.3 Details of the inquiry were advertised on the committee's website. The committee also invited a range of potential submitters to make a written submission by 28 February 2018, but accepted some submissions after that date. The committee received 30 submissions, including five confidential submissions. Submissions received are listed at appendix 1.
- 1.4 The committee held two public hearings for this inquiry, in Sydney on 14 June 2018 and in Canberra on 26 October 2018. Witnesses appearing at these public hearings are listed at appendix 2
- 1.5 Copies of all public submissions, Hansard transcripts of public hearings, and responses to questions on notice are available on the committee's webpage.³

Structure of this report

- 1.6 This report consists of three chapters:
- This chapter provides a brief overview of the bill as well as the administrative details of the inquiry.
- Chapter 2 briefly examines a recommendation of the Productivity Commission regarding model litigant obligations, as highlighted by the Selection of Bills Committee, and related evidence.
- Chapter 3 discusses the key issues raised during the inquiry, and provides the committee's view and recommendations.

¹ *Journals of the Senate*, No. 79, 7 December 2017, pp. 2512–2514.

² Selection of Bills Committee, *Report No. 15 of 2017*, 7 December 2017, Appendix 1.

³ See https://www.aph.gov.au/Parliamentary Business/Committees/Senate/Legal and Constitutional Affairs/JudiciaryAmendment

Purpose of the bill

- 1.7 The bill is a private senator's bill. It was introduced into the Senate by Senator David Leyonhjelm on 15 November 2017.⁴
- 1.8 Senator Leyonhjelm stated that the purpose of the bill is to subject Commonwealth litigants to enforceable model litigant obligations.⁵
- 1.9 During his second reading speech, Senator Leyonhjelm explained that the bill 'would compel future Attorneys-General to maintain the practice of issuing binding obligations to act as a model litigant, and would make these obligations enforceable'. He added:

Firstly, the bill establishes a process by which the Commonwealth Ombudsman can investigate a complaint about a Commonwealth litigant failing to act in accordance with its obligations as a model litigant.

Secondly, the bill empowers a court to order a stay of proceedings while the Ombudsman considers a complaint. Thirdly, the bill provides that, if the court is satisfied that the Commonwealth litigant has contravened or is likely to contravene the model litigant obligations, the court may make any order it considers appropriate.⁶

What is the model litigant obligation?

- 1.10 The content and application of model litigant obligations vary between the Commonwealth, states and territories. At the Commonwealth level, the model litigant obligation is found in subordinate legislation and also recognised in the common law.
- 1.11 The Attorney-General's Department provided a brief history of the model litigant obligation, in both subordinate legislation and the common law:

The obligation to act as a model litigant has been recognised as a common-law obligation upon the Commonwealth since 1912. As espoused in the well-known Melbourne Steamship High Court case, it requires the Commonwealth to conduct itself with a standard of fair play.

Until the early 1990s, the Attorney-General's Department was the sole provider of legal services for the Commonwealth, and this included the conduct of litigation. From 1 July 1995, competition for the provision of legal services was introduced by enabling private firms to be engaged directly by agencies. In anticipation of this change, the first iteration of the [Legal Services Directions] was issued by the Attorney-General's Department in 1994. These directions existed to ensure the continuation of a coordinated and consistent approach to Commonwealth legal work and included reference to the obligation to act as a model litigant. In 1999 the

⁴ *Journals of the Senate*, No. 70, 15 November 2017, p. 2235.

⁵ Senator David Leyonhjelm, *Senate Hansard*, 15 November 2017, p. 8546.

⁶ Senator Leyonhjelm, *Senate Hansard*, 15 November 2017, p. 8547.

Productivity Commission, *Access to Justice Arrangements*, Inquiry Report No. 72, 5 September 2014, Volume 1, p. 430.

directions were first issued by an Attorney-General under the Judiciary Act and introduced the codified version of the model litigant obligation. The present Legal Services Directions of 2017 continue to require the Commonwealth to act as a model litigant in handling claims and litigation, and operate in addition to the common-law obligation. 8

The model litigant obligation in legal services directions

- 1.12 The Attorney-General is responsible for the maintenance of proper standards by the Commonwealth in litigation. Under section 55ZF of the Judiciary Act, the Attorney may issue directions that apply to Commonwealth legal work. These are the Legal Services Directions 2017 (the Directions).
- 1.13 The Directions cover a broad range of matters relating to Commonwealth legal work, including the model litigant obligation. The Directions are more than guidelines; they are legally binding to all Commonwealth agencies and departments, including with respect to the model litigant obligation. ¹⁰
- 1.14 Paragraph 4.2 of the Directions states that Commonwealth entities are to handle claims and conduct litigation in accordance with the Commonwealth's obligation to act as a model litigant, noting that an entity is not to start legal proceedings unless it is satisfied that litigation is the most suitable method of dispute resolution. This obligation is set out in detail at Appendix B of the Directions.
- 1.15 The obligation requires Commonwealth litigants to act honestly and fairly in handling claims and litigation in a number of listed ways. This includes, for example, 'not taking advantage of a claimant who lacks the resources to litigate a legitimate claim', and 'not causing unnecessary delay in the handling of claims and litigation'. The obligation sets a high standard, as it:

...may require more than merely acting honestly and in accordance with the law and court rules. It also goes beyond the requirement for lawyers to act in accordance with their ethical obligations. ¹⁴

1.16 However, the Directions also expressly state that the obligation 'does not prevent the Commonwealth and Commonwealth agencies from acting firmly and properly to protect their interests'. The Directions further state that the obligation:

⁸ Mr Cameron Gifford, First Assistant Secretary, Attorney-General's Department, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 34.

⁹ Mr Gifford, Attorney-General's Department, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 34.

¹⁰ Mr Iain Anderson, Deputy Secretary, Attorney-General's Department, *Committee Hansard*, 26 October 2018, p. 28.

Legal Services Directions 2017, paragraph 4.2 and Appendix B; also see Attorney-General's Department, *Submission 10*, p. 4.

Legal Services Directions 2017, Appendix B, paragraph 2; also see Appendix B, Note 2.

Legal Services Directions 2017, Appendix B, subparagraphs 2(a) and 2(f).

Legal Services Directions 2017, Appendix B, Note 3.

Legal Services Directions 2017, Appendix B, Note 4.

- '...does not therefore preclude all legitimate steps being taken to pursue claims by the Commonwealth and Commonwealth agencies and testing or defending claims against them'; 16 and
- '...does not prevent the Commonwealth from enforcing costs orders or seeking to recover its costs'. 17
- 1.17 The obligation applies to litigation, including before courts, tribunals, inquiries, and in arbitration or other alternative dispute resolution processes. ¹⁸ It also applies to the full breadth of litigation in which the Commonwealth engages:

[T]he Commonwealth may find itself engaged in litigation against a self-represented litigant who may be challenged to comply with the court or tribunal processes. However, the Commonwealth also finds itself engaged with extremely well resourced litigants, such as litigants from the banking or finance sector, who may seek to take every technical point that they can construct. In both of these situations the Commonwealth is under the model litigant obligation... ¹⁹

1.18 The obligation applies across a large volume of litigation, as the Commonwealth may be engaged in tens of thousands of actions at any one time. 20

The model litigant obligation in the common law

1.19 In addition to the obligation in the Directions, the courts have recognised that Commonwealth litigants should act as model litigants. ²¹ In the case of *Melbourne Steamship Co Ltd v Moorehead* in 1912, Griffith CJ stated:

I am sometimes inclined to think that in some parts – not all – of the Commonwealth, the old-fashioned traditional, and almost instinctive, standard of fair play to be observed by the Crown in dealing with subjects, which I learned a very long time ago to regard as elementary, is either not known or thought out of date. I should be glad to think that I am mistaken.²²

1.20 As the Law Council of Australia submitted, the common law duty is enforced by the courts, 'pursuant to their inherent powers to control the judicial processes of the court and to supervise and discipline legal practitioners as officers of the court'. ²³

Legal Services Directions 2017, Appendix B, Note 4.

¹⁷ Legal Services Directions 2017, Appendix B, Note 5.

Legal Services Directions 2017, Appendix B, Note 1.

¹⁹ Mr Gifford, Attorney-General's Department, Committee Hansard, 14 June 2018, p. 34.

²⁰ Mr Gifford, Attorney-General's Department, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 34.

²¹ Legal Services Directions 2017, Appendix B, Note 2.

²² Melbourne Steamship Co Ltd v Moorehead (1912) 15 CLR 333; quoted in Attorney-General's Department, Submission 10, p. 4; also see, for example, Legal Services Directions 2017, Appendix B, Note 2; Legal Services Commission of South Australia, Submission 2, p. 1; Law Council of Australia, Submission 11, p. 7.

²³ Law Council of Australia, Submission 11, p. 7.

1.21 In general terms, it appears there is significant overlap between the obligation in the common law and the obligation in the Directions. 24 One submitter highlighted the Federal Court decision of *ASIC v Rich*, in which the court held that the model litigant obligation in the Directions can be referred to as an aid to understanding the content of the common law duty. 25 Another highlighted *Qantas Airway Ltd v Transport Workers Union of Australia*, in which the common law obligation was said to be 'broader and more fundamental' than the obligation in the Directions. 26

Existing oversight of compliance with the model litigant obligation

Oversight by the Attorney-General's Department

- 1.22 The Directions (including the obligation) are administered by the Office of Legal Services Coordination (OLSC), which is located within the Attorney-General's Department. The OLSC's oversight work includes:
- educating government agencies about the obligation, either on a targeted basis or broadly across the Commonwealth;
- coordinating platforms—such as the General Counsel Working Group and the Australian Government Legal Network—to support individual agencies to seek guidance on complex issues they may be facing, and
- working with agencies to address any systemic issues of non-compliance. 27
- 1.23 The OLSC oversees compliance with the obligation in line with its Compliance Framework.²⁸ The framework lists the various purposes of the OLSC's compliance activities, one of which is to:

...monitor compliance with the Directions and, in doing so, (i) obtain feedback on the operation of the Directions to identify any areas for development and/or clarification, and (ii) identify common or systemic issues affecting compliance.²⁹

1.24 The OLSC receives notifications of alleged breaches of the obligation in a number of ways, including from a party in dispute with the Commonwealth or judicial criticism. In addition, Commonwealth entities are obliged to report as soon as

Office of the Commonwealth Ombudsman (Commonwealth Ombudsman), *Submission 4*, p. 2; Law Council of Australia, *Submission 11*, p. 8.

²⁵ ASIC v Rich (2009) 236 FLR 1 referred in Commonwealth Ombudsman, Submission 4, p. 2.

²⁶ Qantas Airway Ltd v Transport Workers Union of Australia [2011] FCA 470 referred in Law Council of Australia, Submission 11, p. 8.

²⁷ Mr Gifford, Attorney-General's Department, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, pp. 35–36; Attorney-General's Department, *Submission 10*, p. 4.

Office of Legal Services Coordination, Attorney-General's Department, *Legal Services Directions* 2005 – *Compliance Framework*, https://www.ag.gov.au/LegalSystem/LegalServices Coordination/Documents/olsc-compliance-framework.pdf (accessed 6 July 2018).

Office of Legal Services Coordination, Attorney-General's Department, *Legal Services Directions* 2005 – *Compliance Framework*, p. 2.

practicable to the Attorney-General or the OLSC any possible or apparent breaches of the Directions by the entity, or allegations of breaches by the entity of which it is aware. Entities are also obliged to report any corrective steps that have been taken or are proposed to be taken by the entity.³⁰

1.25 Notwithstanding these reports to the OLSC, the Directions state that compliance with the obligation is primarily the responsibility of the Commonwealth agency responsible for the litigation.³¹ When the OLSC receives a notification about a breach or alleged breach, it reviews the notification in line with its Compliance Framework.³² The framework states, in part:

Consistent with agency responsibility and accountability for achieving compliance with the Directions, agencies are expected to have arrangements in place to consider and appropriately respond to allegations of non-compliance, and to take necessary remedial action to ensure better practice in compliance with the Directions.

OLSC does not conduct reviews in relation to, or resolve, complaints from members of the public about agency compliance. Complaints received from members of the public are forwarded to the relevant agency for appropriate action.³³

- 1.26 The Attorney-General's Department submitted that when a complaint is made to a department, that department will ensure resources are available to assess the complaint. This may include 'referring the complaint to senior staff or counsel from the private bar who have no other connection to the matter to consider the allegations in the complaint'. In cases where the OLSC considers that an agency may have misunderstood its obligations under the Directions, the OLSC will work with that agency. The staff of the private of the private of the private bar who have no other connection to the matter to consider the allegations in the complaint'. The private bar who have no other connection to the matter to consider the allegations in the complaint'.
- 1.27 If an individual is unhappy with how a department handled their complaint, the Attorney-General's Department noted that that individual may ask the Commonwealth Ombudsman to undertake an investigation.³⁶
- 1.28 Moreover, the Attorney-General's Department told the committee that the remedies received by a person complaining to the OLSC about a breach would depend on the nature of the alleged breach:

If it's a question of not complying with the procedural orders of the court and we agree that the Commonwealth agency is not complying with the

³⁰ Legal Services Directions 2017, subparagraph 11.1(d).

³¹ Legal Services Directions 2017, Appendix B, Note 1.

³² Attorney-General's Department, Submission 10, p. 4.

Office of Legal Services Coordination, Attorney-General's Department, *Legal Services Directions* 2005 – *Compliance Framework*, p. 6.

³⁴ Attorney-General's Department, Submission 10, p. 5.

³⁵ Attorney-General's Department, Submission 10, p. 5.

³⁶ Attorney-General's Department, Submission 10, p. 5.

orders of the court, we would be taking steps to make sure the Commonwealth agency did comply with the orders of the court. And we'd be asking them why they hadn't. We wouldn't necessarily be imposing a further penalty, but we would be seeking to have them comply with the orders of the court. There are ways in which that can be done, if necessary. The attorney can issue directions, for example, as to the conduct of an agency in a piece of litigation. ³⁷

1.29 The Attorney-General is also able to impose sanctions for non-compliance with the Directions, including non-compliance with the obligation.³⁸

Oversight by the Commonwealth Ombudsman

- 1.30 The Commonwealth Ombudsman, among other things, assists people to resolve complaints about government administrative action.³⁹ The Ombudsman has jurisdiction over all Commonwealth entities and their contracted service providers, subject to some specific statutory exclusions (such as the intelligence agencies and Australian Taxation Office).⁴⁰
- 1.31 The Ombudsman currently has the jurisdiction to consider complaints about perceived breaches by Commonwealth agencies of the Legal Services Directions, including the model litigant obligation. This jurisdiction exists under section 5 of the Ombudsman Act, as the Directions are an administrative instrument and adherence is a matter of administration falling within the functions of the Ombudsman's office.⁴¹
- 1.32 Further, the actions of private legal representatives acting on instructions from Commonwealth agencies are also, in effect, already within jurisdiction. As the Ombudsman's Office submitted:

My jurisdiction does not extend to considering the actions of private legal representatives as proposed in the Bill, however private legal representatives act on the instructions of the Commonwealth agency and adherence to the model litigation obligation applies to all litigation undertaken by an agency regardless of representation. Arguably, the proposed expansion of my functions to include private legal representatives is unnecessary, as private legal representatives act on instructions from Commonwealth agencies, who are already within jurisdiction. 42

³⁷ Mr Anderson, Attorney-General's Department, *Committee Hansard*, 26 October 2018, p. 32.

³⁸ Judiciary Act 1903, section 55ZG; Legal Services Directions 2017, paragraph 14.1; also see Ms Susan Whitaker, Principal Legal Officer, Attorney-General's Department, Committee Hansard, 14 June 2018, p. 42.

³⁹ Commonwealth Ombudsman, Submission 4, p. 1.

⁴⁰ Commonwealth Ombudsman, 'Annual report 2017-18', October 2018, p. 9, http://www.ombudsman.gov.au/ data/assets/pdf file/0031/89383/Commonwealth Ombudsman AnnualReport 2017-18.pdf (accessed 29 November 2018).

Commonwealth Ombudsman, *Submission 4*, pp. 3–4; also see, for example, Department of Human Services, *Submission 1*, p. 4; Attorney-General's Department, *Submission 10*, p. 6.

⁴² Commonwealth Ombudsman, Submission 4, p. 4.

- 1.33 In practice, the Ombudsman would typically not involve itself in matters that are before a court. 43 In addition, the Ombudsman would likely refer to the OLSC any matters solely concerning the model litigant obligation, and as the Ombudsman advised the committee, such referrals happen 'from time to time'. 44
- 1.34 It should also be noted that the Inspector-General of Taxation operates independently of the Commonwealth Ombudsman. The Inspector-General is responsible for the handling of all complaints regarding the administrative actions of the Tax Office and the Tax Practitioners Board. This can include complaints relating to the model litigant obligation. ⁴⁵

Key provisions of the bill

- 1.35 The bill effectively sets out a particular approach that could be taken in cases where the model litigant obligation may have been breached. The bill relates directly to the obligation set out in the Legal Services Directions (as distinct from the common law obligation), and seeks to make it enforceable.
- 1.36 Schedule 1 of the bill would amend the *Judiciary Act 1903* (Judiciary Act). Schedule 2 would amend the *Ombudsman Act 1976* (Ombudsman Act). This section outlines the key provisions of the bill in general terms.

Amendments to the Judiciary Act

Requiring the Attorney-General to ensure there is a model litigant obligation

- 1.37 Currently, section 55ZF provides that the Attorney-General *may* issue directions regarding Commonwealth legal work. Proposed subsection 55ZF(2A) would *require* the Attorney-General to ensure that there are Legal Services Directions that contain a model litigant obligation. ⁴⁶
- 1.38 The bill would not require the obligation to apply to criminal prosecutions and related proceedings, which is consistent with the current approach.⁴⁷

A court may stay proceedings if it is alleged that the obligation was breached

- 1.39 Proposed section 55ZGA states that a court may stay proceedings, or part of proceedings, for a period the court considers appropriate and subject to any conditions the court considers appropriate, if a party to the proceeding:
- has made a complaint to the Ombudsman that a Commonwealth litigant has contravened or is likely to contravene the model litigant obligations, and

⁴³ Mr Michael Manthorpe, Commonwealth Ombudsman, Office of the Commonwealth Ombudsman, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 46.

⁴⁴ Mr Manthorpe, Commonwealth Ombudsman, Committee Hansard, 14 June 2018, p. 44.

Office of the Inspector-General of Taxation, Submission 26, p. 1.

Judiciary Amendment (Commonwealth Model Litigant Obligations) Bill 2017 (Model Litigant Obligations Bill), Schedule 1, Item 1, proposed subsection 55ZF(2A).

Explanatory Memorandum, Model Litigant Obligations Bill (Explanatory Memorandum), p. 3; also see Explanatory Statement, Legal Services Directions 2017, p. 1.

• has applied for a stay.

A court may make orders if it is satisfied that the obligation was breached

- 1.40 Proposed section 55ZGB states that a court may make any order it considers appropriate if:
- a party to the proceeding has made a complaint to the Ombudsman that a Commonwealth litigant has contravened or is likely to contravene the model litigant obligations in relation to that proceeding;
- the Ombudsman, or a person to whom the Ombudsman transferred the complaint, has either completed the investigation or advised of a decision not to investigate, or 60 days have passed since the complaint was made, and
- in a proceeding to which the complainant and the Commonwealth litigant are party (which may not be the proceeding in which the complaint arose), the court is satisfied, on the application of the complainant, that the Commonwealth litigant contravened or is likely to contravene the model litigant obligations as referred to in the complaint. 48
- 1.41 The Explanatory Memorandum (EM) provides examples of orders that a court may consider appropriate:
- orders to promote future compliance by the Commonwealth litigant with model litigant obligations, or
- orders to respond to what the court considers to be a past failure to act as a model litigant, such as through a costs order against the Commonwealth litigant. 49

Enabling enforcement of the obligation in accordance with the proposed court powers

- 1.42 Currently, under subsections 55ZG(2) and (3) of the Judiciary Act:
- '[c]ompliance with a Legal Services Direction is not enforceable except by, or upon the application of, the Attorney General', and
- '[t]he issue of non-compliance with a Legal Services Direction may not be raised in any proceeding (whether in a court, tribunal or other body) except by, or on behalf of, the Commonwealth.'
- 1.43 The bill would amend these provisions to enable the enforcement or raising of non-compliance in accordance with the proposed court powers (at proposed sections 55ZGA and 55ZGB).⁵⁰
- 1.44 In addition, currently a person is not liable to an action or other proceeding, whether civil or criminal, for or in relation to an action done or omitted to be done in

⁴⁸ Explanatory Memorandum, p. 4.

⁴⁹ Explanatory Memorandum, pp. 4–5.

Model Litigant Obligations Bill, Schedule 1, Item 3; also see Explanatory Memorandum, p. 4.

compliance or 'in good faith in purported compliance' with a Legal Services Direction.⁵¹

1.45 The bill would reduce this protection by making it subject to the proposed court powers at proposed sections 55ZGA and 55ZGB.⁵² The EM states that this is to ensure that the protection 'does not prevent the enforcement of model litigant obligations set out by this Bill'.⁵³

Amendments to the Ombudsman Act

The Ombudsman may investigate complaints that allege breaches of the obligation

- 1.46 The relevant functions of the Ombudsman are set out in existing section 5 of the Ombudsman Act. The EM states that the bill would insert new subsections 5B(1) and 5B(2) to 'require the Ombudsman to investigate complaints that a Commonwealth litigant, or a person acting for a Commonwealth litigant, has contravened or is likely to contravene model litigant obligations'.⁵⁴
- 1.47 These proposed subsections also contain provisions that seek to ensure that:
- the Ombudsman, rather than the Inspector-General of Taxation, will investigate complaints about breaches of the obligation even where they relate to tax administration action;⁵⁵ and
- the Ombudsman cannot decide not to investigate a complaint on the basis that it relates to a commercial activity of a department or prescribed authority. 56
- 1.48 Notwithstanding these proposed amendments, it is worth noting evidence from the Commonwealth Ombudsman (outlined above) indicating that the Ombudsman is already able to investigate alleged breaches of the obligation. ⁵⁷
- 1.49 It should also be noted that, despite these proposed amendments, it appears the Ombudsman would retain discretion not to investigate a complaint on various grounds.⁵⁸ While the bill would remove the ground relating to commercial activity, the Ombudsman may retain discretion to not investigate a complaint on other grounds listed in section 6 of the Ombudsman Act. These existing grounds include, for

54 Explanatory Memorandum, p. 6.

⁵¹ Judiciary Act 1903, subsection 55ZI(2); separate provisions apply for the Attorney-General.

Model Litigant Obligations Bill, Schedule 1, Items 5 and 6.

⁵³ Explanatory Memorandum, p. 5.

Explanatory Memorandum, p. 7; also see proposed paragraph 5B(2)(d) of the Model Litigant Obligations Bill, as well as existing subsection 6D(1) of the *Ombudsman Act 1976*.

Explanatory Memorandum, p.7; also see proposed paragraph 5B(2)(c) of the Model Litigant Obligations Bill, as well as existing subsection 6(12) of the *Ombudsman Act 1976*.

⁵⁷ Commonwealth Ombudsman, *Submission 4*, pp. 3–4.

This is also implied by another provision in the bill, namely proposed subparagraph 55ZGB(1)(b)(ii) of the *Judiciary Act 1903*. This proposed subparagraph provides for a court to make orders in certain circumstances, one of which is where 'the Ombudsman informs the applicant of a decision not to investigate...'.

example, that the Ombudsman may decide not to investigate if it is of the opinion that investigation 'is not warranted having regard to all the circumstances'. ⁵⁹

The Ombudsman must report on complaints received and action taken

1.50 Proposed subsection 5B(3) requires the Ombudsman's annual report to include details of complaints it received regarding the obligation, as well as action taken by the Ombudsman, departments or prescribed authorities in relation to the complaints.

Consideration by other Parliamentary committees

1.51 The Parliamentary Joint Committee on Human Rights stated that the bill does not raise human rights concerns. 60 The Scrutiny of Bills Committee provided no comment on the bill. 61

Note on references

1.52 In this report, references to *Committee Hansard* are to proof transcripts. Page numbers may vary between proof and official transcripts.

Acknowledgements

1.53 The committee thanks all submitters and witnesses for the evidence they provided to this inquiry.

⁵⁹ See existing subparagraph 6(1)(b)(iii) of the *Ombudsman Act 1976*.

Parliamentary Joint Committee on Human Rights, *Human Rights Scrutiny Report 12 of 2017*, 28 November 2017, p. 96.

⁶¹ Standing Committee for the Scrutiny of Bills, *Scrutiny Digest 14 of 2017*, 29 November 2017.

Chapter 2

Productivity Commission recommendation regarding model litigant obligations

- 2.1 On 5 September 2014 the Productivity Commission reported to the Australian Government regarding its inquiry into access to justice arrangements. The report was publicly released on 3 December 2014.¹
- 2.2 Recommendation 12.3 of the inquiry was as follows:

The Australian, State and Territory governments (including local governments) and their agencies and legal representatives should be subject to model litigant obligations.

- Compliance should be monitored and enforced, including by establishing a formal avenue of complaint to government ombudsmen for parties who consider model litigant obligations have not been met.
- State and Territory Governments should provide appropriate assistance for local governments to develop programs to meet these obligations.²
- 2.3 The Explanatory Memorandum (EM) for the bill states that the bill 'enacts this recommendation as it relates to the Commonwealth'. As noted in Chapter 1, the Selection of Bills Committee suggested that the committee may consider whether the bill appropriately responds to the Productivity Commission's recommendation. 4

The Productivity Commission's inquiry and the government's response

- 2.4 The Productivity Commission's inquiry considered a broad range of access to justice issues across states, territories and the Commonwealth, one of which related to model litigant obligations.⁵
- 2.5 Participants in the Commission's inquiry generally supported model litigant obligations but expressed various concerns. The Commission grouped these concerns

See Productivity Commission, 'Access to Justice Arrangements', https://www.pc.gov.au/inquiries/completed/access-justice (accessed 28 November 2018).

² Productivity Commission, *Access to Justice Arrangements*, Inquiry Report No. 72, 5 September 2014, Volume 1, p. 442.

Explanatory Memorandum, Judiciary Amendment (Commonwealth Model Litigant Obligations) Bill 2017 (Explanatory Memorandum), p. 1.

⁴ Selection of Bills Committee, *Report No. 15 of 2017*, 7 December 2017, Appendix 1.

⁵ See Productivity Commission, section 12.2, 'Model litigant rules to address power imbalances', *Access to Justice Arrangements*, Inquiry Report No. 72, 5 September 2014, Volume 1, pp. 429–442.

into three areas—coverage, content and compliance—noting that compliance was the major source of concern. The Commission made the following observations:

In comparison to self-represented litigants, parties such as governments and big businesses carry a substantial degree of bargaining power — reflecting the economic resources at their disposal and their greater experience and knowledge of the system as repeat users.

Special power also inheres in the nature of government itself, so judges expect high standards of competence, candour and civility from government parties and their lawyers. These expectations are typically embodied in model litigant rules, which set out acceptable standards and boundaries for the conduct of litigation with the aim of resolving disputes efficiently and appropriately. But there are concerns that model litigant rules lack enforceability, creating weak incentives for governments to comply.⁷

2.6 A key point identified by Commission was as follows:

Governments and their lawyers use model litigant rules to guide their behaviour. Evidence on their effectiveness is mixed. While good in theory, in practice it appears that they are not always enforced. Compliance and enforcement need to be more even and transparent.⁸

2.7 On 29 April 2016 the Australian Government released its response to the Productivity Commission's report. With respect to recommendation 12.3, the government noted that the model litigant obligation, set out in paragraph 4.2 and Appendix B of the *Legal Services Directions 2005* (now superseded by the *Legal Services Directions 2017*), requires the Commonwealth and its agencies to act honestly and fairly in handling claims and litigation. The government further stated:

While Commonwealth officers owe obligations to the Commonwealth under the Directions, the Directions are not intended to provide a remedy, cause of action or any personal rights in addition to those already available through administrative or judicial review. This was confirmed in *Caporale v Deputy Commissioner of Taxation* [2013] FCA 427.

The question of compliance with the Directions, including the Model Litigant Obligations, is a matter between the Attorney-General and the relevant Commonwealth agency or Department. Any other approach could give rise to technical arguments and result in additional costs and delay in litigation involving the Commonwealth.

Productivity Commission, *Access to Justice Arrangements*, Inquiry Report No. 72, 5 September 2014, Volume 1, p. 18.

⁶ Productivity Commission, *Access to Justice Arrangements*, Inquiry Report No. 72, 5 September 2014, Volume 1, p. 431.

⁸ Productivity Commission, *Access to Justice Arrangements*, Inquiry Report No. 72, 5 September 2014, Volume 1, p. 419.

⁹ Attorney-General's Department, 'Response to the Productivity Commission's report into access to justice arrangements', https://www.ag.gov.au/LegalSystem/Pages/response-to-report-into-access-to-justice-arrangements.aspx (accessed 28 November 2018).

The Compliance Framework, introduced in 2013, emphasised greater agency responsibility for understanding the Directions and ensuring compliance, with the Office of Legal Services Coordination's role being to receive alleged breach notifications to identify systemic issues and deficiencies in understanding or operation of the Directions.

Where an individual is unhappy with the handling of their complaint by an agency, they may seek a review by the Commonwealth Ombudsman. 10

2.8 The EM takes issue with this response:

The Government stated that compliance is a matter between the Attorney-General and the relevant Commonwealth agency or Department, and that any other approach could give rise to technical arguments and result in additional costs and delay in litigation involving the Commonwealth. However, this ignores the reality that current model litigant obligations include obligations to not rely on unnecessarily technical arguments, to keep costs to a minimum and to avoid delay, with the consequence that making these obligations enforceable is likely to reduce costs, delays and the use of unnecessarily technical arguments. ¹¹

Issues raised in evidence

- 2.9 Some submitters were of the view that the bill implements the Productivity Commission's recommendation. 12
- 2.10 The Rule of Law Institute noted that the Commission's inquiry was 'detailed, thorough and independent'. It also suggested that government departments, 'being the very targets of the model litigant rules, are hopelessly conflicted and their claims should be carefully scrutinised'. Moreover, the Institute took issue with the government's response to the Commission's inquiry, and submitted that the bill 'faithfully carries out' the Commission's recommendation. 14
- 2.11 In contrast, the Australian Taxation Office firmly agreed with the government response to the Productivity Commission's report. Further, the Department of Human Services and the Attorney-General's Department both expressed concern that the bill goes beyond the Productivity Commission's recommendation. 16

See, for example, Australian Lawyers Alliance, *Submission 6*, p. 4; Rule of Law Institute of Australia, *Submission 18*, pp. 7–8.

Department of Human Services, *Submission 1*, p. 3; Attorney-General's Department, *Submission 10*, p. 7.

Australian Government, *Productivity Commission recommendations implemented by the Australian Government*, April 2016, pp. 4–5.

¹¹ Explanatory Memorandum, p. 1.

Rule of Law Institute of Australia, Submission 18, p.5.

Rule of Law Institute of Australia, *Submission 18*, pp. 7–8; also see Mr Malcolm Stewart, Vice-Chairman, Rule of Law Institute of Australia, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 16.

¹⁵ Australian Taxation Office, Submission 3, p. 7.

2.12 The Attorney-General's Department posited that while the recommendation 'focuses on an avenue of complaint to the relevant ombudsmen', the bill proposes that complaints about the obligation could be raised to affect substantive court proceedings, and courts would be expected to adjudicate compliance. ¹⁷ A departmental representative explained:

In effect, the Productivity Commission was talking about access to justice on a national basis—Commonwealth, state and territory—and talked about ensuring the model litigant obligation was able to be oversighted by a direct complaint mechanism through to the Ombudsman. In the department's view the bill goes beyond that recommendation by elevating that complaint to a substantive issue that can be brought before the court and then it is unclear in how the court is expected to deal with any report or investigation outcome of the Ombudsman. In terms of the types of people that it applies to, the definition of 'Commonwealth litigant' expands the obligation to more former bodies, former individuals and former Defence Force people as well, which would then result in the obligation being expanded, which I'm not really sure was part of the Productivity Commission's recommendation. ¹⁸

- 2.13 The Attorney-General's Department highlighted that existing processes, including an avenue of complaint to the Commonwealth Ombudsman, already exist. As such, 'the key elements of the Productivity Commission's recommendation are therefore already in place at the Commonwealth level.' 19
- 2.14 In response to the suggestion that the bill is not inconsistent with the Commission's recommendation, the department stated that if it was 'looking to implement that recommendation, we would be limiting it to looking at a role for the Ombudsman.' The bill, it observed, is 'not necessarily inconsistent' with the recommendation, but introducing interaction with a court 'brings in a different layer'. ²⁰

17 Attorney-General's Department, Submission 10, p. 7.

20 Mr Cameron Gifford, First Assistant Secretary, Attorney-General's Department, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 42.

¹⁸ Ms Susan Whitaker, Principal Legal Officer, Attorney-General's Department, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 41.

¹⁹ Attorney-General's Department, Submission 10, p. 11.

Chapter 3

Key issues

- 3.1 This chapter outlines the key issues raised in evidence to the committee:
- Current compliance with, and oversight of, the model litigant obligation.
- The proposed role for the courts.
- The proposed role for the Ombudsman.
- Possible increases to costs and delays.
- Issues relating to lawyers.
- Other issues.
- 3.2 The chapter concludes with the committee's view and its recommendations.

Current compliance with, and oversight of, the obligation

- 3.3 The evidence received by the committee underlined the importance of Commonwealth compliance with the model litigant obligation. As the Attorney-General's Department stated, '[i]t's imperative that the Commonwealth conducts itself in a manner that assists the court and supports access to justice.'
- 3.4 While the importance of compliance is broadly recognised, the committee received mixed evidence regarding the extent to which Commonwealth litigants actually comply with the obligation and whether existing oversight is adequate.³ These issues are discussed in turn below.

Current compliance with the obligation

- 3.5 The Attorney-General's Department, which administers the obligation, told the committee that it 'does not consider there is any evidence of systemic issues with agency compliance with the model litigant obligation'. It further noted that the Productivity Commission did not suggest there were systemic issues with Commonwealth compliance.⁴
- 3.6 In the Attorney-General's Department's experience, Commonwealth entities and their legal representatives take the obligation very seriously.⁵ This was reflected

See, for example, Department of Human Services, *Submission 1*, p. 3; Law Council of Australia (Law Council), *Submission 11*, p. 5; Rule of Law Institute of Australia (Rule of Law Institute), *Submission 18*, p. 4.

² Mr Cameron Gifford, First Assistant Secretary, Attorney-General's Department, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 35.

Also see Productivity Commission, *Access to Justice Arrangements*, Inquiry Report No. 72, 5 September 2014, Volume 1, pp. 433–436.

⁴ Attorney-General's Department, Submission 10, p. 6.

⁵ Attorney-General's Department, Submission 10, p. 4.

in submissions from both the Australian Taxation Office (Tax Office) and the Department of Human Services. As the Attorney-General's Department explained:

The department's experience indicates that entities regularly reference the model litigant obligation in making decisions about the handling of matters and that training on the obligation is part of staff development. When complaints are made, departments will ensure resources are available to assess those complaints.⁷

- 3.7 The Attorney-General's Department argued that there have been very few confirmed breaches of the obligation compared to the tens of thousands of legal matters involving the Commonwealth and its entities each year.⁸
- 3.8 As noted in Chapter 1, the OLSC receives notifications regarding possible breaches of the obligation from a number of sources. The following table presents data provided by the Attorney-General's Department which shows:
- the number of notifications the department received about possible non-compliance with the Directions across Commonwealth legal work;
- of the total notifications, the number that related to the obligation; and
- of notifications related to the obligation, the number of confirmed breaches.

Table 3.1—Compliance data provided by the Attorney-General's Department.9

Year	Notifications relating to the Directions	Notifications relating to the obligation	Confirmed incidences of non-compliance with the obligation
2016–17	77	54	4
2015–16	98	65	11

3.9 The Attorney-General's Department made three observations about the compliance record:

First, in each instance of noncompliance the department was satisfied with the agency's assessment and remedial actions proposed or undertaken by the agencies. Second, within the volume of litigation these figures represent a very low number of noncompliance. Third, many of the complaints of perceived noncompliance do not, in fact, stand up when investigated. People might be unhappy with an outcome, but that does not mean that the Commonwealth has acted improperly. Indeed, the complainant may be

⁶ Australian Taxation Office (Tax Office), *Submission 3*, p. 4; Department of Human Services, *Submission 1*, p. 3.

⁷ Attorney-General's Department, Submission 10, pp. 4–5.

⁸ Attorney-General's Department, Submission 10, p. 5; also see Tax Office, Submission 3, p. 4.

⁹ Attorney-General's Department, Submission 10.1, p. 1.

- unhappy with the outcome of their case because the Commonwealth, in fact, acted properly to protect the public interest with respect to that case. 10
- 3.10 The department also stated that of confirmed breaches, 'many of them are relatively minor...They're not necessarily all of the worst degrees, but we still record them as being breaches if they don't strictly comply with the obligation.'11
- 3.11 Other government submitters made similar points regarding their respective litigation caseloads. For example, the Department of Home Affairs submitted that it determines the vast majority of allegations that it breached the obligation to be spurious or unsubstantiated. ¹² The Tax Office indicated that its records show very few breaches compared to the several thousand litigation matters in which it is involved each year. ¹³
- 3.12 The following table presents data provided by the Tax Office which shows:
- the number of reported breaches of the obligation that were investigated and finalised; and
- of reported breaches, the number of breaches that were confirmed.

Table 3.2—Reported and confirmed breaches of the model litigant obligation by the Australian Taxation Office.¹⁴

Year	Reported breaches of the obligation that were investigated and finalised	Confirmed breaches of the obligation
2016–17	14	2
2015–16	16	7
2014–15	16	8
2013–14	23	3
2012–13	29	2

Mr Gifford, Attorney-General's Department, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, pp. 34–35. Note that while Mr Gifford made these comments on 14 June 2018, the Attorney-General's Department corrected its compliance data on 26 October 2018 (see *Submission 10.1*). However, in that correction the department stated that it is satisfied that the updated statistics do not otherwise affect the evidence of departmental officers.

14 Tax Office, Submission 3, p. 4; also see Mr Jonathan Todd, ATO General Counsel and Mr Grahame Tanna, Assistant Commissioner, Dispute Resolution—Litigation and Technical Leadership, Review and Dispute Resolution, Tax Office, Committee Hansard, 26 October 2018, p. 22.

¹¹ Mr Iain Anderson, Deputy Secretary, Attorney-General's Department, *Committee Hansard*, 26 October 2018, p. 32.

¹² Department of Home Affairs, Submission 12, p. 6.

¹³ Tax Office, Submission 3, p. 4.

3.13 The Tax Office noted that it generally tries to avoid disputes. However, it was suggested there are three areas of matters to be litigated:

One is where there's an important issue of law to be clarified for the general community. The second is where you've got egregious conduct, where, out of fairness to all other taxpayers, we have to ensure that we take that conduct on. The third is where you have the intractable dispute where someone wants a deduction for their bedsocks or something, where, out of fairness, again, to all other taxpayers, we can't let that one go. ¹⁵

- 3.14 In addition to data provided by government departments, which conduct the litigation, the committee received data from agencies that handle complaints: the Commonwealth Ombudsman and the Inspector-General of Taxation.
- 3.15 The Ombudsman told the committee that his office does not classify complaints according to whether or not the complaint relates to model litigant obligations. Nonetheless, the Ombudsman estimated that his office receives 'a very small number' of complaints relating to the obligation—that is, 'in the order of three, four or five a year'. ¹⁶
- 3.16 The Inspector-General of Taxation told the committee that he has been responsible for complaints regarding the administrative actions of the Tax Office and the Tax Practitioners Board since 1 May 2015. In that time, his office has received over 7,000 complaints and, based on the office's experience, complaints about tax administration 'often include' dissatisfaction with litigation conduct and model litigant obligation matters.¹⁷
- 3.17 Aside from data provided by government agencies, a number of individuals and organisations also provided evidence regarding breaches of the obligation. This evidence generally indicated that non-compliance is more common than official data suggest.
- 3.18 For example, Civil Liberties Australia submitted that the government has a 'reputation among small law firms and court-aware members of the public as a bully in litigation'. The Chief Executive Officer of Civil Liberties Australia, Mr William Rowlings, referred to breaches of the obligation and suggested that 'there are hundreds, probably thousands, maybe tens of thousands over the past 10 years—certainly thousands'. 19
- 3.19 Some submitters singled out the compliance record of particular government agencies. For example, Cleary Hoare Solicitors submitted that its experience with the

Mr William Rowlings, Chief Executive Officer, Civil Liberties Australia, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 10.

¹⁵ Mr Tanna, Tax Office, Committee Hansard, 26 October 2018, p. 23.

Mr Manthorpe, Commonwealth Ombudsman, Office of the Commonwealth Ombudsman (Commonwealth Ombudsman), *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 44.

Office of the Inspector General of Taxation, *Submission 26*, p. 1.

¹⁸ Civil Liberties Australia, *Submission 15*, p. 3.

Tax Office and the Australian Government Solicitor has shown that 'both entities often fall short of complying with Model Litigant Obligations...throughout the dispute resolution process.'²⁰

- 3.20 Self-Employed Australia also took issue with the Tax Office, arguing that it 'almost routinely' breaches the obligation in relation to small business people. The Executive Director of Self-Employed Australia, Mr Ken Phillips, argued that the Tax Office 'certainly play every legal game that they can. Every technical trick that might be available is played. Every delay, every appeal—everything that you can possibly do.'21
- 3.21 The Australian Lawyers Alliance (Lawyers Alliance) referred to the example of Comcare. It claimed that its members have found that Comcare rarely implements the model litigant obligation and have seen examples of an 'increasingly aggressive approach to retrieve compensation'. Further, the National Spokesperson for the Lawyers Alliance, Dr Andrew Morrison RFD SC, told the committee (speaking generally, not specifically in relation to Comcare):

I can recall, for example, one case where I lodged a complaint in respect of the model litigant rules. After the case was over, I received an expression of regret, which didn't assist at all because the case was concluded by then. ²³

- 3.22 A number of individual submitters also detailed for the committee their personal experience of alleged breaches. ²⁴ For instance, Mr Roderick Douglass told the committee that the Tax Office accused him of fraud, causing him to accrue legal costs and 'six to nine months of stress'. Mr Douglass said that when the matter went to court, the Tax Office stated that it had made a mistake and withdrew. ²⁵
- 3.23 Mr Kia Silverbrook alleged that, in a case concerning his business, the Office of the Fair Work Ombudsman 'specifically and consciously ignored its obligations as a model litigant, even when these obligations were pointed out to it many times'. ²⁶

21 Mr Ken Phillips, Executive Director, Self-Employed Australia, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 8.

Dr Andrew Morrison RFD SC, National Spokesperson, Australian Lawyers Alliance, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 20.

Mr Kia Silverbrook, *Submission 14*, p. 1; also see Office of the Fair Work Ombudsman, response to Mr Silverbrook, *Submission 14*.

²⁰ Cleary Hoare Solicitors, Submission 8, p. 1.

²² Australian Lawyers Alliance, Submission 6, p. 4.

See, for example, Ms Mona Krombholz, Submission 13; Blackwater Treatment Systems, Submission 20; Ms Helen Petaia, Submission 21; Mr Keith Owen, Submission 27;
 Ms Joanne Hambrook, Submission 29; Mr Michael Shord, Private capacity, Committee Hansard, 26 October 2018, pp. 10–15.

²⁵ Mr Roderick Douglass, Private capacity, *Committee Hansard*, 26 October 2018, pp. 1–2.

- 3.24 In addition to these allegations of non-compliance, some inquiry participants suggested that the Attorney-General's Department's compliance data may not be entirely reliable.
- 3.25 Civil Liberties Australia, for example, claimed that the OLSC has insufficiently monitored compliance with the obligation. ²⁷ It argued that the OLSC relies on agencies to report when they have breached the obligation, and that this kind of self-reporting is unreliable. ²⁸
- 3.26 While the Directions require Commonwealth entities to advise counsel about the obligation, the Attorney-General's Department confirmed that the Directions do not require Commonwealth entities to advise private litigants about the existence of the obligation. It is plausible, then, that some private litigants are not aware of the obligation or, for that matter, the option of complaining to the OLSC about alleged breaches of the obligation.
- 3.27 It was put to the Attorney-General's Department that the figures it provided indicate a 'remarkably small amount' of non-compliance.³¹ In response, the department posited that by engaging with Commonwealth litigants throughout the process, it prevents the occurrence of breaches and complaints:

[T]he complaints are realistically just the tip of the iceberg in terms of our compliance work. Because we are engaging so early and so often with agencies in their conduct of litigation—and I gave an example earlier about some of the forums—it means that we can be engaged throughout their decision-making process, including suggesting to them that they might want to think about how they are proposing to conduct the litigation. So I would say to you that our compliance work includes prevention of further complaints and that the statistics then are not necessarily representative of the totality of where amendments might be needed for the conduct of the agencies. ³²

3.28 It should be noted that a number of the above examples, which allege breaches of the obligation, were directly disputed by the government agency that was

²⁷ Mr Rowlings, Civil Liberties Australia, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 11; also see Civil Liberties Australia, *Submission 15*, p. 3.

²⁸ Mr Rowlings, Civil Liberties Australia, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 10.

²⁹ Paragraph 6.2, Legal Services Directions 2017.

Attorney-General's Department, answers to questions on notice, 14 June 2018 (received 20 June 2018), p. 2.

³¹ Senator David Leyonhjelm, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 37.

³² Mr Gifford, Attorney-General's Department, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, pp. 37–38;

the subject of adverse reflections. These responses were published alongside the submissions or were contained in Hansard transcripts.³³

Adequacy of oversight by the Office of Legal Services Coordination

- 3.29 As explained in Chapter 1, the Attorney-General's Department, through the OLSC, is responsible for administering the Directions.
- 3.30 The existing system of oversight received support from some submitters, including the Attorney-General's Department and the Tax Office. The Department of Human Services also submitted that 'the current system of review and enforcement...is appropriate and effective'. The Department of the current system of review and enforcement...
- 3.31 The Department of Human Services further noted that as the Directions are made by the Attorney-General, the 'OLSC is best-placed to interpret the intentions of the Commonwealth's first law officer in respect of the content of the Directions.'³⁶ Similarly, the Law Council of Australia (Law Council) submitted that OLSC 'is arguably better placed to deal with systemic issues that might arise than the Commonwealth Ombudsman'.³⁷
- 3.32 The Attorney-General's Department rejected claims made in evidence that it is too passive in its oversight of the obligation.³⁸ It argued that the OLSC is 'quite proactive' and 'does not simply wait passively until a matter has concluded and then review its handling'.³⁹ For example, if a Commonwealth agency is seeking legal counsel that costs more than \$5,000 then the Attorney-General's approval is required. The department explained that in such cases, the OLSC gets involved early. The OLSC would:

...be part of that conversation to say, 'What do you need this particular counsel for, how many counsel and what's the particular purpose?' Part of that conversation is: 'Have you got the right, and only the right, amount of resources devoted to this particular exercise?' It's not just that we wait until the other end of the exercise, where there's a complaint about a potential

See, for example, Response by the Department of Defence to Ms Mona Krombholz, Submission 13; Response by the Fair Work Ombudsman to Mr Silverbrook, Submission 14; Response by the Department of Human Services to Mr Keith Owen, Submission 27; Responses by the Tax Office to Self-Employed Australia, Submission 19, to Blackwater Treatment Systems, Submission 20, to Ms Helen Petaia, Submission 21, to Mr Michael Shord, Submission 25, to Mr Keith Owen, Submission 27, and to Ms Joanne Hambrook, Submission 29; Mr Tanna and Mr Todd, Tax Office, Committee Hansard, 26 October 2018, pp. 16–27.

³⁴ Attorney-General's Department, Submission 10, p. 11; Tax Office, Submission 3, p. 7.

Department of Human Services, Submission 1, p. 3.

Department of Human Services, Submission 1, p. 4.

Law Council of Australia (Law Council), Submission 11, p. 9.

³⁸ Mr Gifford, Attorney-General's Department, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 36.

³⁹ Mr Gifford, Attorney-General's Department, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 35 and p. 36.

breach of the model litigant obligation but that we're very much involved at the outset of litigation as well. 40

- 3.33 However, other submitters questioned the adequacy of oversight arrangements. For instance, the Lawyers Alliance referred to alleged breaches of the obligation and argued that '[t]here is a clear need for greater oversight of government agencies' implementation of model litigant obligations'.⁴¹
- 3.34 Mr Charles Powers argued that some government agencies have shown a 'willingness to bend the existing rules to minimise scrutiny', and supported clear reporting requirements.⁴²
- 3.35 Civil Liberties Australia argued that the obligation should be actively policed, and that this has not occurred for more than a decade. It stated that the 'OLSC adopted a hands-off approach, by which only self-reporting by a government entity of a breach was required. Naturally, the number of reported breaches dwindled. Liberties Australia also argued that the Attorney-General's Department 'takes an extraordinarily passive' approach to the education of government agencies about the obligation.
- 3.36 Moreover, at the time of its submission, Civil Liberties Australia said that it appears that the Attorney-General's Department does not publish reported breaches of the obligation in accordance with its own guidance note, arguing that this 'would appear to illustrate a contempt' with which the Attorney-General's Department treats the model litigant obligation. It supported an audit of Commonwealth compliance with the obligation, while suggesting that AGD should not be responsible for it because '[w]e don't believe they can be trusted on this'.
- 3.37 In responding to Civil Liberties Australia's submission, the Attorney-General's Department stated:

The department does publish statistical information from agency compliance assessments undertaken in accordance with the Directions. This information has been published annually in the department's annual reports and/or the department's website. We acknowledge that the Guidance Note

43 Civil Liberties Australia, *Submission 15*, p. 3.

⁴⁰ Mr Gifford, Attorney-General's Department, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 36.

⁴¹ Australian Lawyers Alliance, Submission 6, p. 4.

⁴² Mr Charles Powers, Submission 7, p. 2.

Civil Liberties Australia, *Submission 15*, p. 3; also see Mr Rowlings, Civil Liberties Australia, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 10.

⁴⁵ Mr Rowlings, Civil Liberties Australia, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 10.

Civil Liberties Australia, *Submission 15*, pp. 1–2; also see Response by the Attorney-General's Department to Civil Liberties Australia, *Submission 15*.

⁴⁷ Mr Rowlings, Civil Liberties Australia, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 10 and p. 11.

on our website requires updating and will seek [to] make the required amendments. 48

The proposed role of the courts

- 3.38 The committee heard mixed evidence on the merit of the bill's provisions regarding court powers. One key issue was whether courts already have sufficient powers to maintain standards of conduct in litigation, including by enforcing the common law obligation and court rules, and whether this renders the bill unnecessary.
- 3.39 Mr Silverbrook, who supported the bill, suggested that existing provisions governing compliance with the Directions provide 'loopholes' to Commonwealth litigants. He noted that under existing subsections 55ZG(2) and 55ZG(3) of the Judiciary Act, the model litigant obligations 'are not enforceable and cannot be raised in court, except by the Commonwealth Government itself.'49
- 3.40 Dr Morrison RFD SC of the Lawyers Alliance discussed possible limitations of relying on existing enforcement options:

If the behaviour is behaviour which falls short of a breach of court rules, or court orders, but which is nonetheless designed to delay or make more difficult the tasks of bringing a case to fruition, then it may be that the new rules will then have some useful affect in permitting a court to enforce that which previously the court wouldn't wish to become involved in, so I see an advantage in that respect. ⁵⁰

- 3.41 The Queensland Law Society supported the concept of enforceable model litigant obligations, including the court having discretion to stay proceedings or make orders if a Commonwealth litigant contravenes the obligation. However, it argued that '[w]e do not consider that it is appropriate to seek an order of the court based on a "likely" contravention of a provision', which is currently allowed for under the bill, as 'it creates a significant degree of uncertainty'. The Queensland Law Society proposed an amendment to this effect. 52
- 3.42 The Rule of Law Institute of Australia (Rule of Law Institute) supported the bill's proposed enforcement of the model litigant obligation. ⁵³ Mr Malcolm Stewart, the Institute's Vice-Chairman, posited that currently, a court:

Dr Morrison RFD SC, Australian Lawyers Alliance, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 23; also see Mr Malcolm Stewart, Vice-Chairman, Rule of Law Institute of Australia (Rule of Law Institute), *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, pp. 16–17.

⁴⁸ Response by the Attorney-General's Department to Civil Liberties Australia, *Submission 15*, p. 1.

⁴⁹ Mr Silverbrook, Submission 14, p. 1, p. 3.

Mr Ken Taylor, President, Queensland Law Society, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 24; also see proposed subsection 55ZGA(1), proposed paragraph 55ZGB(1)(a), and proposed subsection 55ZGB(2) of the Judiciary Act in the bill.

⁵² Queensland Law Society, Submission 5, pp. 1–2.

Rule of Law Institute, *Submission 18*, p. 8.

- ...has a lot of powers under the Federal Court rules, and the act, to stay proceedings for various reasons. It does not have the power to stay the proceedings for breach of the model litigant obligations. What this bill does is introduce the ability to stay.⁵⁴
- 3.43 In practice, Mr Stewart argued that 'Federal Court judges would be loath to grant a stay', given other requirements to conduct litigation speedily and efficiently.⁵⁵ He said:
 - ...I think it is only in extreme circumstances that a court would grant a stay. At least initially, it is much more likely to try and redress in some specific way the breach of the obligations of the model litigant rules should the bill be passed. Only after that, if that wasn't remedied at that point, would you expect the court to grant a stay in these proceedings. ⁵⁶
- 3.44 Another submitter, whose name was withheld, also noted that courts are reluctant to stay proceedings, observing 'the courts' drive for procedural efficiency'. However, this submitter suggested that this reluctance would negatively affect the bill's intended operation.⁵⁷
- 3.45 A number of submitters told the committee that a court is already able to stay proceedings and make orders under the current system. The Legal Services Commission of South Australia referred to the court's powers in enforcing the common law obligation, which exists in addition to the obligation in the Directions:

The Common Law has a long-established principle that the Crown must comply with certain standards in the way it conducts litigation. Where those standards are not adhered to, courts may look to remedies such as granting adjournments, interlocutory proceedings, costs orders or allowing additional witnesses to be called.⁵⁹

3.46 Both the Commonwealth Ombudsman and the Law Council referred to examples in which courts have exercised their powers, or considered the potential to exercise them, with respect to the common law obligation. The Law Council's examples included courts making a special cost order for breaching the obligation, potentially staying proceedings until a breach of the duty is remedied, and taking into account a breach of the obligation in exercising judicial discretion.

See, for example, Commonwealth Ombudsman, *Submission 4*, pp. 2–3; Attorney-General's Department, *Submission 10*, p. 4; Law Council, *Submission 11*, pp. 7–8.

Mr Stewart, Rule of Law Institute, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 16.

Mr Stewart, Rule of Law Institute, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 16.

Mr Stewart, Rule of Law Institute, Committee Hansard, 14 June 2018, p. 17.

Name withheld, *Submission 23*, p. 1.

Legal Services Commission of South Australia, *Submission 2*, p. 1; also see, for example, Department of Human Services, *Submission 1*, p. 4; Tax Office, *Submission 3*, p. 6.

⁶⁰ Commonwealth Ombudsman, Submission 4, p. 3; Law Council, Submission 11, p. 8.

⁶¹ Law Council, Submission 11, p. 8.

- 3.47 Moreover, the Law Council submitted that 'the model litigant principles set out in the Legal Services Directions are not in substance different to the common law duty'. It also referred to a Federal Court judgement in which the common law obligation was said to be 'broader and more fundamental'. 62
- 3.48 The Commonwealth Ombudsman similarly submitted that there is 'a significant overlap between the administrative and common law model litigant obligation'. It referred to the Federal Court decision of *ASIC v Rich*, which held that the obligation in the Directions can be used as an aid to understanding the content of the common law obligation. ⁶³
- 3.49 In addition to the common law obligation, the Attorney-General's Department submitted that 'the courts use their inherent jurisdiction and civil procedure laws to oversee the Commonwealth's actions as a litigant.' It gave the example of subsections 37M and 37N of the *Federal Court of Australia Act 1976*, which oblige litigants to ensure that litigation is conducted in a proper and efficient way. ⁶⁴
- 3.50 The Law Council also observed that a court would also have regard to the Federal Court Rules 2011 when considering whether a contravention of the obligation would cause, or would likely cause, the administration of justice to be compromised.⁶⁵
- 3.51 Given these existing powers, the Law Council argued that proposed sections 55ZGA and 55ZGB of the Judiciary Act in the bill would not, 'as a matter of substance, provide any additional power to a Court that does not already exist by reason of the common law and the Rules of the Court'. The Law Council further stated:

In fact, it might be argued that the proposed statutory provisions detract from that common law power by conditioning the grant of any relief to circumstances where a complaint has been made to the Ombudsman. ⁶⁷

- 3.52 A similar but distinct point was made by the Tax Office, which suggested that the bill could be considered a fetter on the court's inherent jurisdiction if it requires the court to consider the investigation and decision of the Ombudsman prior to making an order. ⁶⁸
- 3.53 The Tax Office also expressed concern that the bill would conflate 'the determination of whether conduct is a breach of the model litigant obligations with the determination of the substantive issue' before the court. 69 It told the committee that

⁶² *Qantas Airway Ltd v Transport Workers Union of Australia* [2011] FCA 470 at [192]; Law Council, *Submission 11*, p. 8.

⁶³ ASIC v Rich (2009) 236 FLR 1; Commonwealth Ombudsman, Submission 4, p. 2.

⁶⁴ Attorney-General's Department, Submission 10, p. 6.

⁶⁵ Law Council, Submission 11, p. 8.

⁶⁶ Law Council, Submission 11, p. 8.

⁶⁷ Law Council, Submission 11, p. 8.

⁶⁸ Tax Office, Submission 3, p. 6.

⁶⁹ Mr Tanna, Tax Office, Committee Hansard, 26 October 2018, p. 17.

courts can already take action regarding any matter which goes to the substantive matter before the court, including breaches of the obligation:

[I]f something has been done that's unlawful or a breach of the rules, then you would raise it with the court because, if it's relevant to the substantive matter, you don't need the process of going to the Ombudsman. You would raise it with the court because it's relevant to the determination of the issue.⁷⁰

3.54 The Tax Office further illustrated this point with an example:

[T]he small-business person says, 'Oh, I want a deduction for whatever.' And surely whether the Commonwealth has been in breach of the model litigant obligations is not relevant to determining whether they get the deduction. If the Commonwealth is in breach of a model litigant obligation then that doesn't mean that they get the deduction. It may be relevant in the proceedings, in the production of documents, or in some other procedural aspect that's relevant to the proceedings. If that's the case, the court already has that jurisdiction.⁷¹

3.55 In a similar vein, the Attorney-General's Department suggested that courts can handle matters that go to the substance of the litigation, while other conduct can be handled by the current administrative process:

We would argue that, to the extent that anything is raised before the court which goes to the substance of the way that the litigation is being conducted, the court has sufficient inherent jurisdiction to deal with it. To the extent that it's outside of the way the conduct is being managed for the purposes of the current dispute—and it goes to something about the conduct of the Commonwealth, which does not substantively impact on the litigation—then the current framework, in terms of a complaint to the Office of Legal Services Coordination and engagement with the relevant agency, is sufficient to address that.⁷²

Applying the proposed powers to tribunals

- 3.56 The Directions provide that the model litigant obligation applies to litigation, including before courts, tribunals, inquiries, and in arbitration or other alternative dispute resolution processes.⁷³ However, the bill only refers to courts; it does not mention tribunals.
- 3.57 Some submitters observed that it is not clear whether the bill, as currently drafted, applies to tribunals.⁷⁴ Others appeared to presume that it either does⁷⁵ or does not⁷⁶ include tribunals.

⁷⁰ Mr Tanna, Tax Office, Committee Hansard, 14 June 2018, p. 27.

⁷¹ Mr Tanna, Tax Office, Committee Hansard, 26 October 2018, p. 17.

Mr Gifford, Attorney-General's Department, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 42.

⁷³ Legal Services Directions 2017, Appendix B, Note 1.

See, for example, Department of Human Services, *Submission 1*, p. 8.

3.58 At one of the committee's hearings, Senator Leyonhjelm provided some context as to why the bill only refers to courts and not tribunals:

My thinking was that the Commonwealth party to litigation would never know when a case was going to go all the way through to the Federal Court, even having been dealt with by the AAT before that, and therefore that knowledge that their behaviour, their compliance with model litigant rules, might be raised in a court would influence the way they dealt with a case up to that point.⁷⁷

3.59 The Department of Human Services highlighted possible issues with the bill applying to tribunals. First, it noted that it is not clear whether the current bill would apply to tribunals:

[T]he Bill does not define the term "court" as used in Items 4 and 5 of the Bill. Nor does the Bill seek to amend the (relatively limited) application of the Judiciary Act, relating expressly to the exercise of judicial power of the Commonwealth in the High Court of Australia and the Federal Court of Australia.⁷⁸

3.60 Moreover, the department said that applying sanctions for non-compliance, as proposed by the bill, is unlikely to accord with the no-cost jurisdictions of the AAT 1 and AAT 2:

[T]he sanctions that a court may apply in Item 4 (proposed section 55ZGB(2) of the Bill) where the court is satisfied that the Model Litigant Obligations have been, or are likely to be, contravened, may primarily be costs orders against the Commonwealth litigant (see paragraph 17 of the Explanatory Memorandum). Such sanctions do not sit easily, if at all, with the "costs-free" jurisdiction of the AAT 1 and the AAT 2.⁷⁹

3.61 Nevertheless, several witnesses expressed at least some level of support for the provisions of the bill applying to tribunals as well as courts.⁸⁰ This included Self-Employed Australia, which supported including the AAT in the bill as it is often the "first port of call" for an independent review of the ATO's actions against a small businessperson'.⁸¹

See, for example, Cleary Hoare Solicitors, *Submission 8*, pp. 3–4; Law Council, *Submission 11*, p. 5.

See, for example, Tax Office, *Submission 3*, p. 9; Self-Employed Australia, *Submission 19*, p. 3.

⁷⁷ Senator Leyonhjelm, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 22.

⁷⁸ Department of Human Services, Submission 1, p. 8.

⁷⁹ Department of Human Services, Submission 1, p. 8.

⁸⁰ See, for example, Mr Stewart, Rule of Law Institute, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 18; Mr Taylor, Queensland Law Society, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 22; Dr Morrison RFD SC, Australian Lawyers Alliance, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 22.

⁸¹ Self-Employed Australia, *Submission 19*, p. 3.

- 3.62 While both the Tax Office and the Attorney-General's Department generally opposed the bill, they each also expressed concern about the bill applying only to courts and not tribunals.
- 3.63 The Tax Office cautioned that this may lead to taxpayers commencing proceedings in the Federal Court, rather than the AAT, because they perceive that would provide an advantage:

With regards to taxation and superannuation litigation, this may create access to justice and equity issues as taxpayers of more substantial means who can afford to litigate within the Federal Court could in effect achieve a different outcome than if they had undertaken the litigation within the Administrative Appeals Tribunal. 82

3.64 The Attorney-General's Department suggested that limiting the bill's application to courts and excluding tribunals would 'fragment its operation, cause inconsistencies and not be in line with the intended objectives of the model litigant obligation'. 83

The proposed role of the Commonwealth Ombudsman

- 3.65 The bill's proposed role for the Ombudsman received support from some submitters. For example, the Rule of Law Institute highlighted that the Productivity Commission recommended establishing a formal avenue of complaint to a government ombudsman. ⁸⁴ Civil Liberties Australia stated that the bill would ensure that 'a proper authority, the Commonwealth Ombudsman, would take the [model litigant obligation] on the government seriously, and would report annually'. ⁸⁵
- 3.66 Cleary Hoare Solicitors, which supported the bill, submitted that the Ombudsman should be able to make recommendations to the court regarding appropriate sanctions, not merely determine whether the obligation was breached. 86 It also observed that elements of the obligation apply to conduct prior to the commencement of court proceedings. If the obligation can only be enforced by a court, then this:

...requires the Commonwealth subject to commence proceedings despite a potential contravention of [the model litigant obligation]. It surely cannot be the intention of the Bill to require this.

We recommend a suitable alternative to empower the Ombudsman and/or [the Inspector-General of Taxation] to suspend any action by the

Attorney-General's Department, Submission 10, p. 9.

⁸² Tax Office, Submission 3, p. 9.

Rule of Law Institute, Submission 18, p. 7.

⁸⁵ Civil Liberties Australia, *Submission 15*, p. 2; also see, for example, Queensland Law Society, *Submission 5*, p. 1.

⁸⁶ Cleary Hoare Solicitors, Submission 8, p. 4.

Commonwealth entity in respect of the dispute until the contravention has been investigated and remedied. ⁸⁷

3.67 The Law Council's view was different; it suggested that while the Ombudsman should have some administrative role, a court is better placed to consider and adjudicate on alleged breaches of the obligation in the particular circumstances of a matter before the court. 88 It submitted:

In a general sense, a breach of those elements of the model litigant obligations that are of an administrative nature are appropriately matters for administrative complaint and review mechanisms. On the other hand, those elements that relate to the way litigation is to be conducted in court are matters for the court in the exercise of its inherent powers to manage the conduct of judicial proceedings and to exercise supervision over the adherence by legal practitioners with their ethical and other professional obligations as legal practitioners and officers of the court. ⁸⁹

- 3.68 The Attorney-General's Department argued that the bill is unnecessary, in part because it is already possible to complain to the Ombudsman about alleged breaches of the obligation. As noted in Chapter 1, the Ombudsman submitted that it is currently able to consider complaints regarding breaches of the obligation. However, the Ombudsman generally refers any complaints to the OLSC, and does not typically involve itself in matters that are before a court.
- 3.69 The Ombudsman further noted that in order to effectively perform the function proposed in the bill, it would need to build the skills of its office and engage specially trained investigation officers who understand litigation. This would require appropriate resources. However, the volume of resources needed would depend on the quantity and complexity of complaints received regarding the obligation. The Ombudsman also discussed the powers available to the office when conducting investigations. However, the volume of resources needed would depend on the quantity and complexity of complaints received regarding the obligation.

⁸⁷ Cleary Hoare Solicitors, *Submission 8*, p. 2.

⁸⁸ Law Council, Submission 11, p. 9.

⁸⁹ Law Council, Submission 11, p. 7.

⁹⁰ Attorney-General's Department, Submission 10, p. 6.

⁹¹ Commonwealth Ombudsman, Submission 4, pp. 3–4

⁹² Mr Manthorpe, Commonwealth Ombudsman, Committee Hansard, 14 June 2018, p. 44.

⁹³ Mr Manthorpe, Commonwealth Ombudsman, Committee Hansard, 14 June 2018, p. 46.

⁹⁴ Commonwealth Ombudsman, *Submission 4*, pp. 4–5.

⁹⁵ Mr Manthorpe, Commonwealth Ombudsman, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 43.

⁹⁶ Mr Manthorpe, Commonwealth Ombudsman, Committee Hansard, 26 October 2018, p. 8.

Possible procedural issues with an Ombudsman investigation

- 3.70 Some submitters raised questions about how investigations by the Ombudsman would relate to court processes if the bill were passed.⁹⁷
- 3.71 The Ombudsman advised that it is not clear how the proposed scheme would interact with existing subsections 6(2) and 6(3) of the Ombudsman Act. In very general terms, these provisions limit (but do not eliminate) the Ombudsman's ability to investigate matters that are before a court, that may go before a court, or that have been before a court.
- 3.72 The Ombudsman posited that these provisions 'recognise the expertise and capacity of a Court to manage, resolve and enforce matters that fall within its jurisdiction (including the common law model litigant obligation)'. It also stated that subsection 6(2) avoids duplication of oversight of an agency by the Ombudsman and a court. ⁹⁸
- 3.73 Some inquiry participants also expressed concerns about inadvertent interference with court procedures. The Legal Services Commission of South Australia submitted that '[i]t is easy to imagine that any investigation of an active court case would quickly fall foul of the laws of evidence and contempt'. 99 Similarly, the Ombudsman stated that '[i]n order to appropriately investigate a complaint it may also be necessary for my Office to speak to lawyers and witnesses involved in the case. That could inadvertently interfere with the conduct of the proceedings. 100
- 3.74 The Law Council suggested that an Ombudsman investigation could interfere with the administration of justice by a court:

For example, there is an implied undertaking by a party to litigation to only use material obtained through compulsory judicial processes for the purposes of that litigation; that is, without a release from that undertaking from the Court, use of that material in an Ombudsman enquiry would likely amount to an abuse of process. ¹⁰¹

- 3.75 The Law Council also raised the possibility that the Ombudsman's report 'might prejudice the Commonwealth's substantive position in the litigation by revealing, for example, matters of legitimate litigation strategy that the Commonwealth should be entitled to keep confidential'. 102
- 3.76 The Attorney-General's Department highlighted section 11A of the Ombudsman Act, which enables the Federal Court to make a determination on how

⁹⁷ See, for example, Tax Office, *Submission 3*, pp.5–6; Attorney-General's Department, *Submission 10*, p. 9.

⁹⁸ Commonwealth Ombudsman, Submission 4, p. 4.

⁹⁹ Legal Services Commission of South Australia, Submission 2, p. 1.

¹⁰⁰ Commonwealth Ombudsman, Submission 4, p. 5.

¹⁰¹ Law Council, Submission 11, p. 9.

¹⁰² Law Council, Submission 11, p. 9.

the Ombudsman conducted or is conducting its investigation. It observed that, as the bill would allow the Ombudsman to investigate conduct before a court, it 'could result in one part of the Federal Court directly or indirectly commenting on proceedings in another part of the Federal Court'. ¹⁰³

3.77 Finally, regarding the scope of the Ombudsman's investigations, both the Tax Office and the Attorney-General's Department submitted that the bill is not clear on whether the Ombudsman would have jurisdiction to investigate complaints about a Commonwealth litigant's conduct in state or territory court systems.¹⁰⁴

Interaction between the Ombudsman and the court

3.78 A further issue related to questions about the status that an investigation by the Ombudsman would hold before a court. For instance, the Attorney-General's Department stated that there is a 'lack of clarity' regarding what would happen when the Ombudsman reports to the court:

The court has the ability under the bill to make an order, but what if the court says, 'Okay, we need more information from the Ombudsman?' What if the court doesn't agree with the Ombudsman's findings?¹⁰⁵

3.79 The department also made further observations:

We see the potential there for a matter to be raised with a court and referred off to the Ombudsman for investigation. But then it also remains within the court's jurisdiction, as we understand it, to make a decision without waiting for the Ombudsman's outcome. Alternatively, they might actually await a report from the Ombudsman. There is a potential there for the Ombudsman to conclude that it either is or isn't a breach of the model litigant obligation and for a court to conclude otherwise. How those two can be reconciled is actually a little unclear for us. ¹⁰⁶

3.80 In a similar vein, the Tax Office asked:

...does the Court need to consider the investigation and decision made by the Commonwealth Ombudsman prior to making an order? If this is the case, then it could be considered a fetter on the court's inherent jurisdiction for it to have to consider the decision of an administrative body such as the Ombudsman. If this is not the case, then the obvious question remains – what is the utility and value to be gained by the Commonwealth Ombudsman becoming involved in investigating contraventions of model litigant obligations? 107

_

¹⁰³ Attorney-General's Department, Submission 10, p. 9.

Tax Office, Submission 3, p. 6; Attorney-General's Department, Submission 10, p. 9.

¹⁰⁵ Mr Anderson, Deputy Secretary, Attorney-General's Department, *Committee Hansard*, 26 October 2018, p. 29.

¹⁰⁶ Mr Gifford, Attorney-General's Department, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 39.

¹⁰⁷ Tax Office, Submission 3, pp. 5–6.

- 3.81 One submitter told the committee that the proposed court powers are too broad because they would enable courts to make orders even where the Ombudsman did not find that the Commonwealth breached the obligation. ¹⁰⁸
- 3.82 The Ombudsman observed that only a court, not the Ombudsman, could enforce the obligation. As a result, the referral of complaints to the Ombudsman may 'remove a litigant's recourse to enforce the obligation through court processes and replace it with an administrative complaint process conducted by [the Ombudsman's Office].'
- 3.83 Alternatively, if this is not the case, then there is a 'very real possibility' that the Ombudsman and the court would come to different views about an alleged breach, particularly since the obligation can be complex and 'pulls in different directions'. The Ombudsman said that in these cases, litigants would be 'obliged to adhere to any orders made by the court and it is unclear what status the investigation by [the Ombudsman] would have'. The Ombudsman raised the possibility that this might result in his office, the court, and lawyers expending resources on an investigation that doesn't have clear results. 111
- 3.84 Notwithstanding these points, some submitters supported employing the Ombudsman as a means of resolving compliance matters quickly and outside the courts. 112
- 3.85 The Queensland Law Society submitted that a litigant should not be required to make a complaint to the Ombudsman in order to be able to raise in court a Commonwealth litigant's compliance with the obligation. As Mr Taylor of the Queensland Law Society stated:

The complaint process should run parallel to the litigation, be dealt with at the same time and be dealt with basically on the side by the Ombudsman, who can then make their findings known to the parties. If the parties wish to bring those findings to the court, the court can make the decision then as to whether or not a penalty should be applied, whether that be a monetary penalty or in fact a stay of proceedings or some other decision. ¹¹⁴

3.86 The Lawyers Alliance made a similar point. It recommended that the Ombudsman's oversight 'be available in real time, offering the prospect of enforcing

109 Commonwealth Ombudsman, Submission 4, p. 3.

¹⁰⁸ Name withheld, Submission 23, p. 1.

¹¹⁰ Commonwealth Ombudsman, Submission 4, p. 3.

¹¹¹ Mr Manthorpe, Commonwealth Ombudsman, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 46; also see Mr Manthorpe, Commonwealth Ombudsman, *Committee Hansard*, 26 October 2018, p. 6.

¹¹² Also see, for example, Mr Stewart, Rule of Law Institute, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 16.

¹¹³ Ms Kate Brodnik, Senior Policy Solicitor, Queensland Law Society, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 22.

¹¹⁴ Mr Taylor, Queensland Law Society, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 21.

model litigant obligations while the dispute is still ongoing.'115 Dr Morrison RFD SC of the Lawyers Alliance stated that matters should go to the Ombudsman first 'in 99.9 per cent of cases', rather than a judge:

I think the primary focus should be on the Ombudsman remedy, because that is the quickest and most practical remedy and one which doesn't drag a judge away from the judge's primary function of determining the facts in the case and applying the law... ¹¹⁶

3.87 However, Dr Morrison RFD SC noted that there may be some very rare cases in which a judge would need to be involved, such as 'upon clear findings by the Ombudsman that something improper had occurred, and then the judge may need to take that into account in assessing what, if any, procedural remedies were required'. However, he also noted that:

I wouldn't like to see a situation where the judge is the first port of call, because our judges do their very best to keep focused upon what's in the particular case and where the evidence leads them—and that's properly so, in the interests of justice. ¹¹⁸

3.88 One submitter expressed greater concern on this point, observing that the bill requires the trial judge to also hear an application to stay proceedings. They pointed to the risk of apprehended bias:

A finding by the trial judge that the Commonwealth has breached their model litigant obligations may mean that the trial judge is perceived as "biased". This would have further appellate implications. This should be amended. 119

Interaction between the Ombudsman and the Inspector-General of Taxation

- 3.89 The Inspector-General of Taxation drew attention to possible issues relating to the jurisdictional boundary between the Commonwealth Ombudsman and the Inspector-General.
- 3.90 The Inspector-General is responsible for the handling of all complaints regarding the administrative actions of the Tax Office and the Tax Practitioners Board. The Ombudsman is responsible for complaints relating to administration in other areas of government. On this issue, the Inspector-General submitted:

If the Commonwealth Ombudsman was to be the sole repository of complaints on the [model litigant obligation], as is currently provided for in the bill, it would require both of our offices to expend time and effort to determine the parameters of our respective jurisdictions, transfer parts of

¹¹⁵ Australian Lawyers Alliance, Submission 6, p. 7.

¹¹⁶ Dr Morrison RFD SC, Australian Lawyers Alliance, Committee Hansard, 14 June 2018, p. 23.

¹¹⁷ Dr Morrison RFD SC, Australian Lawyers Alliance, Committee Hansard, 14 June 2018, p. 22.

¹¹⁸ Dr Morrison RFD SC, Australian Lawyers Alliance, Committee Hansard, 14 June 2018, p. 22.

¹¹⁹ Name withheld, Submission 23, p. 1.

¹²⁰ Office of the Inspector-General of Taxation, Submission 26, p. 1.

complaints and be restricted in sharing information or findings due to the secrecy obligations set out in our respective legislation. Such an outcome would likely delay resolution of complaints investigations, increase costs for all parties and potentially hamper the efficient administration of justice.

Accordingly, we believe that if the bill was to be passed, consequential amendments should be made to the *Inspector-General of Taxation Act 2003* to incorporate any powers of the Ombudsman to investigate [model litigant obligation] matters in relation to the actions of the [Tax Office] and the [Tax Practitioners Board]. ¹²¹

3.91 When invited to comment on this, the Ombudsman, Mr Manthorpe, told the committee that he agrees with the Inspector-General's proposition that:

...if [the Office of the Commonwealth Ombudsman] had the power to look at whether the model litigant provisions had been appropriately dealt with in a tax matter, but [the Inspector-General of Taxation] still had complaint-handling powers about tax matters, which he currently does, then that could get messy. It would be better to have both things sitting with him with respect to tax matters. 122

3.92 However, the Ombudsman also acknowledged that jurisdictional issues sometimes arise in the current system, for example, a matter may touch on tax matters as well as veterans' entitlement matters. The Ombudsman's office is 'accustomed to working with that sort of ambiguity with all the other agencies'. 123

Possible increases to costs and delays

- 3.93 As outlined in Chapter 2, the government's response to the Productivity Commission's report stated that compliance with the obligation is a matter between the Attorney-General and the relevant Commonwealth agency or department. Any other approach, according to the government response, 'could give rise to technical arguments and result in additional costs and delay in litigation involving the Commonwealth'. 124
- 3.94 The committee heard further evidence on this issue during its inquiry.
- 3.95 As discussed above, the Tax Office expressed concern that the bill would conflate the substantive matter before a court with determinations on whether the obligation has been breached. It stated that this would 'make the whole process more costly, more delayed and more uncertain.' The Tax Office expanded on this point by way of example, suggesting that:

¹²¹ Office of the Inspector-General of Taxation, Submission 26, p. 1.

¹²² Mr Manthorpe, Commonwealth Ombudsman, *Committee Hansard*, 26 October 2018, pp. 8–9.

¹²³ Mr Manthorpe, Commonwealth Ombudsman, Committee Hansard, 26 October 2018, p. 9.

Australian Government, *Productivity Commission recommendations implemented by the Australian Government*, April 2016, pp. 4–5.

¹²⁵ Mr Tanna, Tax Office, Committee Hansard, 14 June 2018, p. 30.

...if you went to the court and said, 'Look, there's a breach of a model litigant. We want this investigated,' you would go to the Ombudsman. You would then make your application to the Federal Court—breach of model litigant. Meanwhile, you get a stay. The tax issue is put to one side, and the court is then to determine whether there's been a breach of the model litigant [obligation]. Assuming that it's not relevant to the determination of the substantive issue, you've got that cost and delay in trying to determine whether there's been a breach of the model litigant obligation. Meanwhile, there's the costs of the taxpayer...having to prove that there was a breach of the model litigant [obligation], and the court then having to determine whether that's the case, then giving procedural fairness, obviously, to the commissioner or any other Commonwealth agency, to answer that. And if one doesn't agree, they go on appeal. Meanwhile, the tax dispute is still left to be determined.

126

- 3.96 The Attorney-General's Department suggested that even though there is no fee to apply to the Ombudsman, 'there may well be a cost in having legal representatives or, indeed, just a cost in preparing a submission to make to the Ombudsman'. 127
- 3.97 Although a court may not be required to wait for the Ombudsman to conclude its investigation, the Attorney-General's Department stated that 'if you're opening up another avenue for the Ombudsman to investigate, the court would very likely defer until such time as the investigation by the Ombudsman is complete'. The department also noted there is a prospect for appeals to be made in response to a court order relating to the obligation. ¹²⁹
- 3.98 The Legal Services Commission of South Australia submitted that Ombudsman investigations may take some time, thereby delaying the matter:

Investigations by an Ombudsman necessarily have their own formalities and procedures and have the potential to delay any court matter for a considerable time causing further loss to the parties involved. ¹³⁰

3.99 The Ombudsman submitted that the bill effectively places a 'soft time limit' of 60 days on Ombudsman investigations. ¹³¹ It explained that previous investigations concerning the obligation have extended beyond 60 days, but it depends on the complexity of the matter. Some investigations may be straightforward but others might be quite onerous on both the Ombudsman and the Commonwealth litigant,

¹²⁶ Mr Tanna, Tax Office, Committee Hansard, 26 October 2018, p. 17.

¹²⁷ Mr Anderson, Attorney-General's Department, Committee Hansard, 26 October 2018, p. 31.

¹²⁸ Mr Gifford, Attorney-General's Department, Committee Hansard, 14 June 2018, p. 39.

¹²⁹ Mr Anderson, Attorney-General's Department, Committee Hansard, 26 October 2018, p. 29.

¹³⁰ Legal Services Commission of South Australia, Submission 2, pp. 1–2.

Commonwealth Ombudsman, *Submission 4*, p. 5; also see proposed subparagraph 55ZGB(1)(b)(v) of the *Judiciary Act 1903* in the bill.

noting that the Ombudsman arrives at each complaint without prior knowledge of the issue. ¹³² The Ombudsman explained why some of these matters can be complex:

Although on their face the model litigant provisions are a reasonably plain English document about limiting the scope of legal proceedings where possible and so on and so forth, in any given case the set of facts that give rise to the Commonwealth taking one view and the other person in the litigation taking another view might require quite a lot of digging into the history of the case, digging into the case law and digging into the policy underpinnings of what it is that the relevant department or agency is arguing versus the individual and so on. ¹³³

- 3.100 The Ombudsman further noted that, in addition to the possibly burdensome investigation, to ensure procedural fairness both sides would likely be given an opportunity to have a say on the view being formed by the Ombudsman. 134
- 3.101 Some submitters raised concerns that litigants may seek to raise matters relating to the obligation in order to intentionally delay the court's proceedings, particularly where delay is to their advantage. For instance, the Attorney-General's Department highlighted that the bill does not provide a clear basis for a court to assess a complaint at the time of granting the stay:

Litigants could be encouraged to make a complaint with the intention of extending proceedings, for example, in extradition, immigration or taxation disputes. Where a complaint is unfounded, weak, or vexatious, the Bill would unnecessarily place additional pressure on the courts. ¹³⁵

3.102 The Law Council raised the possibility that a private litigant might seek a stay of proceedings as a strategy to, for example, 'distract attention by the Commonwealth and its lawyers from the conduct of the litigation'. The Department of Home Affairs posited that the bill likely incentivises parties to proceedings to allege non-compliance with the obligation 'in order to further delay the resolution of their proceedings'. If this risk is realised then there may be further incentive for litigants in migration and citizenship cases to:

...commence judicial review proceedings, which in turn would allow them to remain in Australia for the period of time in which it takes for their proceedings to be resolved. 137

3.103 On a similar point, the Tax Office suggested that the bill would 'allow egregious and vexatious taxpayers to side-step the substantive issues within the

_

¹³² Commonwealth Ombudsman, *Submission 4*, p. 5; Mr Manthorpe, Commonwealth Ombudsman, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 45.

¹³³ Mr Manthorpe, Commonwealth Ombudsman, Committee Hansard, 14 June 2018, p. 43.

¹³⁴ Mr Manthorpe, Commonwealth Ombudsman, Committee Hansard, 26 October 2018, p. 7.

¹³⁵ Attorney-General's Department, Submission 10, p. 8.

Law Council, Submission 11, p. 9; also see Name withheld, Submission 23, p. 1.

¹³⁷ Department of Home Affairs, Submission 12, p. 7.

litigation and create delays by raising technical arguments regarding alleged non-compliance' with the obligation. ¹³⁸ Indeed, its representatives told the committee that the use of interlocutory procedures to delay litigation is increasingly common in certain litigation, particularly with 'egregious taxpayers', and that this 'adds to the cost for the Commonwealth and makes it much more difficult for us to run litigation'. ¹³⁹

- 3.104 The Department of Home Affairs submitted that any additional delays are likely to increase costs for all parties to the proceedings. Moreover, the Attorney-General's Department argued that any significant additional workload for the courts would introduce delay for all matters and 'require an assessment of associated resourcing requirements as against other government funding priorities. 141
- 3.105 However, the committee also heard evidence indicating that the bill is unlikely to cause substantial delays in proceedings. Mr Stewart of the Rule of Law Institute was asked about the risk of delays caused by the court needing to consider these matters. He stated that:

...if the court was of the view that the process was being abused then, for the reasons and the sections that I have just referred to, which are 37N and 37M of the Federal Court Australia Act, the judge is required, as are the parties, as are their lawyers, to conduct the proceedings speedily, efficiently and with as little cost as possible. So I don't see that as an issue. 142

- 3.106 In its submission, the Rule of Law Institute advanced that any costs or delays 'are likely to be off set in an early resolution of litigation, which is the aim of the model litigant rules.' It further argued that, while it disputes the risk of costs and delays, 'there is always a price for transparency, credibility and fairness.' 143
- 3.107 In addition, some inquiry participants suggested that the issue of costs and delays could be partially addressed by amendments to the bill (discussed above) that would separate an Ombudsman investigation from the courts. As Mr Taylor, President of the Queensland Law Society, stated when explaining these amendments:

The complaint process—while the Ombudsman has a role to play—should be dealt with at the same time as the litigation is proceeding. The complaint process itself should not be able to be utilised by a vexatious litigant—I think the term's been used before—or by having unmeritorious complaints to otherwise interfere with the conduct of the primary litigation. The complaint process should run parallel to the litigation, be dealt with at the

139 Mr Tanna and Mr Todd, Tax Office, Committee Hansard, 26 October 2018, p. 20.

_

¹³⁸ Tax Office, Submission 3, pp. 7–8.

Department of Home Affairs, *Submission 12*, p. 7; also see Department of Human Services, *Submission 1*, p. 3.

¹⁴¹ Attorney-General's Department, Submission 10, p. 8.

¹⁴² Mr Stewart, Rule of Law Institute, Committee Hansard, 14 June 2018, p. 16.

Rule of Law Institute, Submission 18, p. 7, p. 8.

same time and be dealt with basically on the side by the Ombudsman, who can then make their findings known to the parties. 144

Issues relating to lawyers

3.108 Civil Liberties Australia stated that the Attorney-General's Department is responsible for educating public servants about the obligation, but in its view it had not done so satisfactorily. The President of Civil Liberties Australia, Dr Kristine Klugman, argued that 'since the outsourcing of legal services the problem has got worse, because, as you say, those lawyers want to win at all costs.' Her colleague, Mr Rowlings, explained further:

The government operates on a win-at-all-costs basis. That is exactly what it does. It employs commercial lawyers whose attitude is that. If a department didn't have that attitude when it went to a commercial operation, which it did roughly 10 years ago, with outside lawyers that culture was imported into the Commonwealth government, and that's where [the] problem started. 147

- 3.109 However, the Tax Office stated that it provides a copy of the obligation in every brief to an external firm, draws their attention to it orally and in writing, and the obligation is part of the agreement between that firm and the Tax Office.¹⁴⁸
- 3.110 Indeed, paragraph 6.2 of the Directions requires the following:

Briefs to counsel in matters covered by the model litigant policy are to enclose a copy of the Directions on The Commonwealth's Obligation to Act as a Model Litigant, at Appendix B, and instruct counsel to comply with the policy.

3.111 Some submitters also raised the risk that certain provisions of the bill may expose lawyers to the risk of personal sanction for breaches of the obligation. The Department of Human Services expressed concern that under the bill:

...even where the Commonwealth litigant (or any relevant individual) has acted in good faith and honestly believing that their conduct complied with the Model Litigant Obligations, they may still be subject to civil liability or criminal prosecution in respect of a technical or inadvertent breach. ¹⁵⁰

3.112 The department posited that, as a result, the bill may make Commonwealth litigants less likely to litigate a 'novel but arguable point'. Similarly, the Tax Office

¹⁴⁴ Mr Taylor, Queensland Law Society, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 21.

¹⁴⁵ Mr Rowlings, Civil Liberties Australia, Committee Hansard, 14 June 2018, p. 10.

¹⁴⁶ Dr Kristine Klugman, President, Civil Liberties Australia, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 10.

¹⁴⁷ Mr Rowlings, Civil Liberties Australia, Committee Hansard, 14 June 2018, p. 10.

¹⁴⁸ Mr Todd, Tax Office, Committee Hansard, 14 June 2018, p. 31.

¹⁴⁹ See Items 5 and 6 of Schedule 1 of the bill.

¹⁵⁰ Department of Human Services, Submission 1, p. 7.

¹⁵¹ Department of Human Services, Submission 1, p. 7.

submitted the bill may expose officers to personal sanctions for contraventions of the obligation, which could 'indirectly lead to a culture of risk aversion in decision making'. It further stated that the bill may make legal firms reluctant to act for the Tax Office, 'which in turn impacts the long-term quality and efficiency of the ATO's legal practice and the outcomes the ATO can achieve'. 152

3.113 The Law Council outlined the standards and regulations that already apply to lawyers acting for the Commonwealth, particularly Attorney-General's lawyers under section 55E of the Judiciary Act. It submitted that these arrangements should be maintained, and that they should not be brought 'into the scope of investigation and formulation of recommendations by the Commonwealth Ombudsman'. ¹⁵³ Rather:

...complaints about Commonwealth litigant legal practitioners in relation to contraventions of the model litigant obligation, which raise allegations of unsatisfactory professional conduct or professional misconduct, should continue to be dealt with by the relevant state or territory legal profession complaints handling authority, rather than by the Commonwealth Ombudsman. ¹⁵⁴

3.114 The Rule of Law Institute took issue with this argument. Its Vice-Chairman, Mr Stewart, advanced that while professional misconduct proceedings may be possible:

We need to deal with these things during the current court process. If there is a court process going on, where a litigant gets a whiff that that might be some breach in the model litigant rules, it needs to be dealt with on the spot. It can't be dealt with two or three years later, after litigation has finished and appeals have been exhausted. Part of what is good about this bill is that it deals with it during the course of the litigation. ¹⁵⁵

Other issues

- 3.115 This section briefly outlines other issues that were raised in evidence to the committee.
- 3.116 One submitter, whose name was withheld, commended the intention and purpose of the bill but cautioned that it may cause 'a number of unintended consequences which may detract from the enforcement of the obligations.' The submitter proposed an alternative model of enforcing the obligation, in which parties would not be required to make a complaint to the Ombudsman. Rather, they could bring an application before an independent judge (sitting in the same court as the trial

Tax Office, *Submission 3*, pp. 6–7; also see Mr Tanna, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 32.

¹⁵³ Law Council, Submission 11, p. 10.

¹⁵⁴ Law Council, Submission 11, p. 10.

¹⁵⁵ Mr Stewart, Rule of Law Institute, *Committee Hansard*, 14 June 2018, p. 15.

judge), who could make declarations about the Commonwealth's conduct and make any orders necessary to ensure the Commonwealth complies with the obligation. ¹⁵⁶

3.117 Separately, the submission from the Attorney-General's Department opposed the bill. ¹⁵⁷ One risk raised by the department was that the bill could lead to an 'overly technical' approach to the model litigant obligation, either through interpretation or amendments to the Directions:

Transforming the obligation into a matter to be determined and enforced by courts could encourage a re-casting of the obligation to be prescriptive and technical, rather than principles-based, to provide certainty in interpretation where it may affect substantive proceedings. ¹⁵⁸

- 3.118 The department explained that, currently, the obligation is 'flexible and fluid to allow it to be adapted to the specific circumstances of a matter'. It supported a principles-based approach over a technical one because 'it encourages a reflective approach by entities and their legal representatives rather than simply seeking to comply with technical requirements'. 159
- 3.119 The Attorney-General's Department further submitted that the bill is not merely unnecessary; it 'would, in fact, cause harm'. The departmental representative suggested the bill would 'hold out to people the prospect that they will get the Ombudsman and the court addressing their underlying sense of grievance'. However, of those who allege breaches of the obligation, a 'very small subset' has their allegation confirmed, and so:

...there would be people who would be very sincerely believing that there's been a model litigant breach in their case. They'd raise that concern. The court can stay their matter. The Ombudsman can look into it. We don't think it's necessarily going to actually change their position at all. ¹⁶¹

- 3.120 In cases where this process doesn't change the person's position, the departmental representative suggested it would 'be difficult for them, emotionally and otherwise'. 162
- 3.121 Finally, the Attorney-General's Department put it to the committee that litigants already have a number of mechanisms available to them if they wish to raise concerns about a Commonwealth litigant's conduct. This includes raising their

See, for example, the 'drafting issues' presented by the department at Attorney-General's Department, *Submission 10*, pp. 10–11.

¹⁵⁶ Name withheld, Submission 23, p. 1.

¹⁵⁸ Attorney-General's Department, Submission 10, p. 8.

¹⁵⁹ Attorney-General's Department, Submission 10, p. 8.

¹⁶⁰ Mr Anderson, Attorney-General's Department, Committee Hansard, 26 October 2018, p. 31.

¹⁶¹ Mr Anderson, Attorney-General's Department, *Committee Hansard*, 26 October 2018, p. 29.

Mr Anderson, Attorney-General's Department, *Committee Hansard*, 26 October 2018, p. 31; also see p. 29.

concerns with the relevant agency, complaining to the Ombudsman, or seeking relief through administrative review. 163

- 3.122 In addition, the Tax Office drew attention to its alternative dispute resolution work, which includes 'a number of alternative dispute resolution services tailored to the small business market and the nature and complexity of their disputes'. 164
- 3.123 Regarding alternatives to the bill, both the Attorney-General's Department and the Department of Home Affairs referred to the Attorney-General's Department's *Secretary's Review of Commonwealth Legal Services*, published in November 2017. This review made recommendations about how the Commonwealth conducts legal work, and the Attorney-General's Department said that the review is currently with government for consideration. The Attorney-General's Department explained that:
 - ...[s]everal of those recommendations emphasise improved understanding and consistent training to government lawyers regarding their unique role, enhancing agency compliance with the Directions and strengthening the role of OLSC. ¹⁶⁶

Committee view

- 3.124 The committee strongly supports the principle of 'fair play' that underpins the Commonwealth's obligation to act as a model litigant.
- 3.125 When engaged in litigation, the Commonwealth often has access to extensive resources and legal expertise, as well as an established reputation before the courts. It is incumbent on Commonwealth litigants to act fairly and in the public interest, rather than seek to 'win at all costs'. However, the Commonwealth should also act firmly and properly to protect its interests.
- 3.126 Given the importance of the Commonwealth's compliance with the obligation, the committee commends the underlying intent of the bill. The committee considers the bill is generally consistent with the Productivity Commission's recommendation, even allowing that it goes beyond what would be necessary to satisfy the recommendation.
- 3.127 Nonetheless, the committee considers that the specific provisions of the bill may not be the most appropriate or effective way to increase and ensure compliance with the obligation. The committee is conscious of the risk of unintended consequences, particularly noting that some submitters expressed uncertainty about how the bill would operate on certain points.

-

Mr Gifford, Attorney-General's Department, Committee Hansard, 14 June 2018, p. 35.

See, for example, Response by the Tax Office to Self-Employed Australia, *Submission 19*, pp. 7–8; Mr Tanna, Tax Office, *Committee Hansard*, 26 October 2018, p. 24.

¹⁶⁵ Attorney-General's Department, *Submission 10*, p. 11; Department of Home Affairs, *Submission 12*, p. 7.

¹⁶⁶ Attorney-General's Department, Submission 10, p. 11.

- 3.128 The committee also does not wish to unduly dismiss the risk of increases to costs and delays in litigation which, if realised, could affect litigants, the Commonwealth, the courts, the Ombudsman, and potentially others. Further, it appears that elements of what the bill proposes—including the ability of courts to make orders regarding breaches of the obligation and the ability of the Ombudsman to investigate complaints alleging breaches of the obligation—may already be in place.
- 3.129 There is merit in the bill and a need for action that would ensure compliance with the obligation. However, further work is required to address concerns about the current version of the bill that were raised in this report and in evidence to the inquiry.

Recommendation 1

- 3.130 While the committee recognises that the bill has merit and that action needs to be taken to ensure compliance with the model litigant obligation, the committee recommends that the Senate not pass the bill in its current form.
- 3.131 The committee encourages the government to consider what action it could take to address the concerns raised during this inquiry about the Commonwealth's compliance with the obligation. The committee also encourages the Senate to give close consideration to any future bills, or amended bills, that would ensure Commonwealth litigants comply with the obligation without causing unintended consequences.
- 3.132 The committee expresses its view on some elements of the bill below. It also refers to certain steps that the government may wish to consider taking in an effort to ensure that the Commonwealth complies with the obligation.

The extent of non-compliance with the obligation

- 3.133 The committee received mixed evidence regarding the extent of non-compliance with the obligation. On one hand, the committee notes data provided by the Attorney-General's Department and other government agencies indicating that breaches of the obligation are only alleged in a very small proportion of Commonwealth legal matters—and the number of confirmed breaches is even smaller. It further notes evidence suggesting that most non-compliance issues are generally technical in nature and are quickly addressed.
- 3.134 However, the committee also heard about the difficulties experienced by people and businesses allegedly due to breaches of the obligation. These cases are concerning. Even allowing that the Commonwealth complies with the obligation in the vast majority of cases, the cases of alleged non-compliance brought to the committee's attention underline the importance of the Commonwealth's obligation to act as a model litigant.
- 3.135 In the committee's view, the weight of evidence indicates that it is possible that there are instances of non-compliance which have not been recorded in official data.

Recommendation 2

3.136 The committee recommends that the government initiate action to fully ascertain the nature and extent of the problem of non-compliance with the model litigant obligation, such as an independent audit of compliance.

Knowledge and understanding of the obligation

- 3.137 It is positive that paragraph 6.2 of the Directions requires briefs to counsel to instruct counsel to comply with the obligation. However, there are questions over whether the parties engaged in litigation with the Commonwealth understand the nature, protections and limits of the obligation. Such understanding is important in ensuring that the Commonwealth is held to account.
- 3.138 The committee encourages government to consider how it could ensure that all parties in litigation with the Commonwealth are made aware of the existence and content of the model litigant obligation, including action a litigant could take if they feel that the Commonwealth has breached the obligation. ¹⁶⁷

The role of courts and tribunals

- 3.139 The committee considers that courts should play a role in enforcing the proper conduct required by the model litigant obligation. Such enforcement could incentivise compliance and provide an avenue of redress if the obligation is breached. It would likely be possible for this redress to have effect while the proceedings are still underway.
- 3.140 The committee heard evidence in favour of enabling tribunals, alongside courts, to enforce the obligation. While there were some concerns raised about this proposal, the weight of evidence indicated that it may be beneficial to adopt a consistent approach that includes tribunals in any proposal relating to enforcement of the obligation by courts.

Recommendation 3

3.141 The committee recommends that the government include tribunals (such as the Administrative Appeals Tribunal), as well as courts, in any proposed legislation relating to the enforcement of the model litigant obligation by courts.

The role of the Ombudsman

3.142 The committee considers that the Ombudsman should have a role in investigating alleged breaches of the obligation. The committee is conscious of evidence indicating that the bill's proposed role for the Ombudsman may be onerous for the Ombudsman's office. If legislative change increases the Ombudsman's responsibilities, it is important that the Ombudsman be appropriately resourced to fulfil all its functions.

The committee is aware that a past recommendation of the House of Representatives Standing Committee on Tax and Revenue covered similar ground to this point; see recommendation 9, House of Representatives Standing Committee on Tax and Revenue, *Tax disputes*, March 2015.

- 3.143 The committee notes that the Ombudsman indicated that it is already able to conduct investigations into complaints about non-compliance. However, it also understands that the Ombudsman may currently tend to exercise its discretion not to investigate these complaints, including on the basis that the matter is before a court, and perhaps refer the matter to the OLSC instead.
- 3.144 The committee notes concerns about the interaction between courts and the Ombudsman, including potential legal procedural issues caused by the Ombudsman's investigation. It appears that these may be alleviated, to some extent, by separating Ombudsman investigations from court processes, as some submitters suggested.
- 3.145 A further point of evidence related to the jurisdictional boundary between the Commonwealth Ombudsman and the Inspector-General of Taxation. The committee notes that the current version of the bill provides for all complaints relating to breaches of the obligation to be within the scope of the Ombudsman, rather than the Inspector-General, even where they relate to tax administration action.
- 3.146 Careful consideration should be given to how best to divide responsibilities between these two bodies in any future legislative change. The committee suggests that this consideration use the existing jurisdictional boundary as a starting point, noting that it appears sensible to divide responsibilities based on whether or not a matter relates to tax administration action.

Senator the Hon. Ian Macdonald Chair

Appendix 1

Public Submissions

1	Department of Human Services
2	Legal Services Commission of South Australia
3	Australian Taxation Office
4	Office of the Commonwealth Ombudsman
5	Queensland Law Society
6	Australian Lawyers Alliance
7	Mr Charles Powers
8	Cleary Hoare Solicitors
9	Victims Of Abuse In The Australian Defence Force Association
10	Attorney-General's Department
	10.1 Supplementary to submission 10 (PDF 105 KB)
11	Law Council of Australia
12	Department of Home Affairs
13	Ms Mona Krombholz
	Response by the Department of Defence, received 3 May 2018.
14	Mr Kia Silverbrook (plus one attachment)
	Response by the Fair Work Ombudsman, received 3 May 2018.
15	Civil Liberties Australia
	Response by the Attorney General's Department, received 3 May 2018
16	Confidential
17	Confidential
18	Rule of Law Institute of Australia
19	Self-Employed Australia
	19.1 Supplementary to submission 19
	Response by the Australian Taxation Office, received 12 June 2018.
20	Blackwater Treatment Systems
	Response by the Australian Taxation Office, received 21 June 2018.
21	Ms Helen Petaia
	Response by the Australian Taxation Office, received 21 June 2018

22

Confidential

- Name Withheld
- 24 Confidential
- 25 Mr Michael Shord
 - Response by the Australian Taxation Office, received 19 July 2018.
- 26 Office of the Inspector-General of Taxation
- 27 Mr Keith Owen
 - Response by the Australian Taxation Office, received 31 August 2018.
 - Response by the Department of Human Services, received 27 August 2018.
- Name Withheld
- Ms Joanne Hambrook
 - Response by the Australian Taxation Office, received 8 November 2018.
- 30 Mr Steve Davies (received confidentially)

Answers to Questions on Notice

- Office of the Commonwealth Ombudsman answer to question on notice taken at the public hearing on 14 June 2018 (received 18 June 2018).
- Attorney-General's Department answers to questions on notice taken at the public hearing on 14 June 2018 (received 20 June 2018).
- 3 Self-Employed Australia answers to questions on notice taken at the public hearing on 14 June 2018 (received 21 June 2018).
- 4 Attorney-General's Department answer to question on notice taken at the public hearing on 14 June 2018 (received 5 July 2018).

Additional Information

Australian Taxation Office - Correction to evidence given on 26 October 2018 (received 16 November 2018).

Appendix 2

Public hearings and witnesses

Thursday, 14 June 2018 – Sydney

Brodnik, Ms Kate, Senior Policy Solicitor, Queensland Law Society

Dunn, Mr Matt, General Manager, Policy, Public Affairs and Governance,

Queensland Law Society

Gifford, Mr Cameron, First Assistant Secretary, Attorney-General's Department

Klugman, Dr Kristine, President, Civil Liberties Australia

Layson, Ms Sally, Treasurer, Rule of Law Institute of Australia

Manthorpe, Mr Michael, Commonwealth Ombudsman, Office of the Commonwealth Ombudsman

Morrison, Dr Andrew RFD AC, National Spokesperson, Australian Lawyers Alliance

Phillips, Mr Ken, Executive Director, Self-Employed Australia

Rowlings, Mr William, Chief Executive Officer, Civil Liberties Australia

Stewart, Mr Malcolm, Vice-Chairman, Rule of Law Institute of Australia

Tanna, Mr Grahame, Acting Deputy Commissioner, Review and Dispute Resolution, Australian Taxation Office

Taylor, Mr Ken, President, Queensland Law Society

Todd, Mr Jonathan, ATO General Counsel, Australian Taxation Office

Walsh, Mr Rodney Lee, Senior Assistant Ombudsman,

Office of the Commonwealth Ombudsman

Wandmaker, Ms Kate, Principal Lawyer, Office of the Commonwealth Ombudsman

Whitaker, Ms Susan, Legal Officer, Attorney-General's Department

Friday, 26 October 2018 – Canberra

Anderson, Mr Iain, Deputy Secretary, Attorney-General's Department

Douglass, Mr Roderick, Private capacity

Manthorpe, Mr Michael, Commonwealth Ombudsman, Office of the Commonwealth Ombudsman

O'Brien, Mr Peter, Acting Director, Office of Legal Services Coordination, Attorney-General's Department

Shord, Mr Michael John, Private capacity

- Tanna, Mr Grahame, Assistant Commissioner, Dispute Resolution—Litigation and Technical Leadership, Review and Dispute Resolution, Australian Taxation Office
- Todd, Mr Jonathan, ATO General Counsel, Australian Taxation Office
- Walsh, Mr Rodney Lee, Senior Assistant Ombudsman, Officer of the Commonwealth Ombudsman
- Wandmaker, Ms Kate, Principal Lawyer, Officer of the Commonwealth Ombudsman
- Whitaker, Mrs Susan, Acting Assistant Secretary, Officer of Legal Services Coordination, Office of Legal Services Coordination, Attorney-General's Department